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SENATOR RODERICK D. WRIGHT:  We’re going to get started probably in the next five minutes.  I wanted to get a couple of other members in.  But for people who have never been to an info hearing before, we’re not voting today.  So if you see us adjourn and there’s no vote, that’s because in an informational hearing there will be no vote per se.


The other thing that we’re going to do, and I’ll discuss it in a little bit more detail, is, as we hear the hearing—and I think most of you might have the agenda—but for people who may have come to the wrong place, there are two compacts that we’re looking at today.  One is for the North Fork Rancheria and the other is for the Wiyot tribe, so we’re going to kind of talk about those two compacts.


I know there are people here who are both for and opposed.  One of the things that we’re going to do is, we’re going to allocate an hour to the people who are the proponents; and then after we’ve done that hour on the proponents, the other people who are in support after that, we’re going to ask that you identify where you’re from and state that you are in support.  After that, we’re going to take another hour for all the people who are opposed.  After we’ve done the hour, we will again do the same thing where we will then ask the people who are opposed to take the—identify where they are from and the fact that they are opposed, which we will then note for the record.  I’ll go over that in a little bit more detail.

Again, we’ve got a couple of other members who are coming and so we’ll get started shortly.  But I didn’t want anyone to think—and by the way, as I said that, there may be questions from the panel.  If there are questions from the panel, that time doesn’t count against your hour.  So if one or two of us raises questions and there’s a dialog between us, that won’t be charged against the hour that either side had to present their information.  Again, we’re going to get started in just a second.  I’m waiting for a couple of other members to arrive and then we’ll begin moving forward.  Thank you.


I’ve got another announcement that the hearing that we’re doing today is being televised on the Cal Channel.  If you want to look at it later or look at the website of the Cal Channel, it will be available for that purpose.  So you can look at it and they’ll actually sell you a copy.  I mean, you probably don’t want a copy of my face talking; but, you know, as it gets interesting, you might want to get a copy and look at it for later on, but the information of this hearing will be available and it’s being broadcast on the Cal Channel on your cable‑operator systems.

***Pause***

I want to take the prerogative of the chair and begin the hearing again.  Because this is an informational hearing and we’re not voting, it is not necessary for us to establish a quorum so I want people to be advised that sometimes I know that many of you have been to hearings; and if there’s not a vote, then you think something didn’t happen.  The process in the Senate for compact are reviews is that we have an informational hearing, as we’re going to do today.  The Rules Committee will then decide what day that this compact comes to the Assembly or—excuse me—the Senate floor.  So that’s our process.  That’s what we’ll do.

Again, because we had so many people who were interested in the subject matter, we’re going to do a couple of things that are not always done but they’re occasionally done.  I mentioned earlier again, we’re going to have—the initial presentation is going to be from Mr. Appelsmith from the Governor’s Office.  Mr. Appelsmith is going to present the issues of the compact to us.  As many of you know, the Governor’s Office negotiates the compacts and Mr. Appelsmith was the lead negotiator on behalf of the Governor’s Office.


From there, what will happen is that those in support will have an hour.  We have some people listed as spokespersons.  That will be an hour.  If there are questions that come from the panel, then that time will not be charged against the hour.  But the idea, again, is that we will hear from all sides.  After the hour, what we’re going to do is have people identify themselves so you can identify yourself as where you’re from and that you are in support or opposition, depending upon the time that you come up.  And again, we’re going to have the supporters up first and then we’re going to go to those in opposition, and those in opposition will again have a full hour. 


If there are any questions from the panel, the questions will not be charged against the time that the persons have.  I’m not and we’re not selecting the persons who are representing either side.  I have met with a couple of groups, and so it is up to them to pick how they use the hour that they have to make the presentation.


What I’m going to get started with, Assemblyman Isadore Hall is the author of one of the compacts.  He is here as well.  Then we’ll hear from Assemblyman—Senator Wesley Chesbro who is working on one of the other compacts; and then Assemblyman Bigelow is going to speak to one of the others.  And with that, we’re going to get started.

Assemblyman Hall, welcome to the Senate.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER IASADORE HALL, III:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members, for indulging me.  I am obviously here to speak on AB 277.  AB 277 ratifies the Tribal-State gaming compacts entered into between the State of California and the North Fork Rancheria Band of Mono Indians and the State of California, as well as the Wiyot tribe.


Members, in March of 2000, California voters voted by nearly a two‑thirds margin to approve Proposition 1A. The initiative gave California tribal nations exclusive rights to offer various types of gaming on tribal land and granted the governor exclusive rights to negotiate with tribal, with the tribal government, the revenue sharing with local community and non-gaming tribes.  It also gave them the right to mitigate—the tribes’ mitigation and other terms contained in the Tribal-Gaming Compact.  As a legislature, we are obviously tasked with the responsibility to ratify by an up-or-down vote.  Tribal-State Gaming Compacts are negotiated by the governor in good faith and consistent with the state and the federal law.

We must say now that for nearly a decade, members of the North Fork Rancheria Band of Mono Indians worked with two federal administrators, four U.S. Interior Secretaries, two governors; they also engaged thousands and thousands of local residents, farmers, businesses, and other interested parties to have their sovereign land held in trust by the United States Government, required by federal law, to allow for tribal gaming.  The gaming facility is supported by both Madera County and the City of Madera.  The tribe has negotiated with the governor on terms of the compact that would do several things and I will outline what those things are.


First, as a result of this negotiated compact, it will create more than 5,000 jobs for one of the poorest regions of the state of California, including 1,400 permanent jobs, 1,200 construction jobs, 2,000 local community spinoff jobs across diverse economic levels and industry sectors.


Secondly, it will provide $250 million over the life of the compact to a Revenue Sharing Trust Fund to benefit non-gaming tribes throughout the state of California.


Third, it will provide $100 million of support to local public safety, infrastructure, education, housing, job training, and economic development programs to mitigate the impacts of gaming, and help ensure the long-term financial stability of this sovereign nation and the surrounding communities.


Fourth, this compact will guarantee $3 to $5 million in revenues from the North Fork Gaming Facility that will be shared directly with the Wiyot tribe in Humboldt County which has agreed to forego gaming on its reservation because of the environmentally sensitive nature of their land.


Finally, this compact will include mitigation for the Chukchansi tribe by providing the tribe with 3.5 percent revenue sharing of net wins from gaming devices.

The United States Department of Interior and the governor has declared that the tribe has a significant, historical connection with the land which was taken into federal trust on February 5th of 2013.  This land cannot be called “off reservation” as the designated parcel in trust for the North Fork tribe.  The land is tribal land and it’s eligible for gaming.  The North Fork tribe did not change the rules at the federal level to have the land taken into trust.  They simply adhered to the rules.


Members, we talk a lot about protecting working families in this building.  The compact will put Californians back to work.  The tribe has signed a project labor agreement with the Fresno, Madera, Kings, and Tulare Counties, Building Trades and Construction Trades Council.  They’ve also signed a project labor agreement with UNITE HERE International Union, ensuring a respected wage for respected workers, which is expected for every worker in the state of California.



Members, this tribe has followed all the rules, all of the federal requirements, all of the state requirements, all of the local requirements.  The North Fork tribe is asking the state Senate only to grant them the same rights granted to every other sovereign tribal nation in this great state of California—nothing more, Members, nothing less.


Since 2000, we have seen firsthand the transformation that tribal gaming has made in the lives of Native Americans throughout California.  And I’ve got to tell you that I am honestly proud to see the economic prosperity, the sustainability, and the educational opportunities provided to California Native Americans as a result of tribal gaming.  I am honored to say that they are thriving and thank God they are.  Tribal gaming has replaced welfare with work; tribal gaming has replaced despair with hope; and tribal gaming has obviously replaced dependency with self-reliance.


Senators, our job is not to determine winners or losers among tribal nations.  The North Fork Rancheria Band of Mono Indians and the Wiyot tribe, we have done just that.  They have followed the rules and they’ve respected our process.  It is now our turn to respect the sovereignty of this tribe and ratify the compact with your vote.  As a result of all stated and mentioned, I respectfully ask for your aye vote once it is heard on the Senate floor.

Thank you so much, Senators.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

What I’m going to say, Assemblyman Bigelow, I’m thinking you’re addressing the same compact that he is?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER FRANKLIN E. BIGELOW:  Yes.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Why don’t I skip the order, Assemblyman Chesbro, and let Mr. Bigelow come at this time.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BIGELOW:  Chairman Wright and fellow Members, thank you for convening this informational hearing.  I really do appreciate the opportunity that this presents for these issues to be heard by these bodies. 


Today I’m here to ask you for your support of AB 277, the North Fork Gaming Compact.  As the tribe resides in my district, I am fully aware of their long and just struggle for economic self-sufficiency, for their 1,980 members.


A little off-script here, I want to tell you a little story about the community.  You see, I know full well about these folks.  My family and these folks in the tribe are like one.  We’ve lived, we’ve eaten, we’ve breathed together. We’ve danced and we’ve cried the sorrows because we’ve been in the community for so long together.


I want to tell you a little history.  These folks go back as a tribe, as a tenacious tribe, people who have fought for their long, just standing.  In 1916, when they were cast aside by the federal government, they had to fight to get reinstated.  It wasn’t until 1966 their lands were reinstated to them, but their lands are something that are kind of bounced around, if you will.  Some people think that the limited acres that they started, that limited 80 acres, was tribal lands.  They’re not.  They’re lands that belong to a certain group of family members.  That is all and it belongs to them.  It is not tribal land.  They gained some tribal land by purchasing 61 acres so that they can put housing and benefit the people.  From there, this tribe has worked valiantly hard to meet the needs of their members who are looking for gainful employment, something to give them strength, worth, value, to be mighty once again. 

This tribe has successfully navigated those challenges of the federal process and has achieved tremendous local support, many of whom you will hear from later.  I believe the North Fork Compact achieves the goal of putting the North Fork people to work and improving their community.  Though federal law was enacted with regulations and has a pathway that is laid out for tribes, such as North Fork to follow, a very difficult and arduous and time-consuming path, a path that is so difficult, that there are odds against any other tribe negotiating a similar compact.  In fact, it would be rare, if at all, if anyone could ever achieve this again.


The compact, which has been carefully crafted, provides equal treatment of the North Fork people, just like every other gaming tribe in our state.  In fact, all that North Fork is asking of the legislature is for the right to do what over 60 other California tribes have done, and that is, to game on their sovereign land.  Their land, as you’ve heard from Assemblymember Hall, their sovereign land, which both the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Department of Interior have determined, is where their ancestors worked many years ago.  In a time where each and every one of us has campaigned on the premise of being focused on putting people back to work, I ask you to support this bill, a bill that will create nearly 5,000 jobs and $100 million annually in local, economic benefits to our struggling Central Valley.


 As I said on the floor a few weeks ago, we all came up here with a promise to work together, on the people’s work.  Today I urge you to stand together and put the people back to work.  Please understand, what’s on the floor today and in the future on your floor will be the single vote, not a vote that is being cast on land-use issues.  It will be simply the determination of whether you want to see Type 2 gaming or Type 3 gaming.  One is bingo; one pulls machines; one gets a compact where there are funds that will go to mitigate the costs of all impacts and the state will benefit from; and one, there will be none.  I see the direct benefit, the value.  The federal government has already made its decision, my fellow members.  It made their decision.  They approved after the artful challenges that this tribe has undertaken and said, yes, this is tribal land and we will list it in the federal registry.


I urge your thoughtful approach toward analyzing this compact.  And I hope, that when it comes to the Senate floor, we can count on your support.

Gentlemen, thank you very much for today.



SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BIGELOW:  And thank you for the honor to sit here.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  Well, first of all, Mr. Chairman, thank you for the privilege of being able to join the committee on the dais.  It’s a very familiar seat, both having sat here and through many, many meetings as a member of the state Senate and also as a member of Conference Committee, Budget Conference Committee.  I appreciate the opportunity to introduce my constituents who will be addressing you in a little bit here on the agenda, Wiyot Tribal Chair, Ted Hernandez, and members of the Wiyot tribe.


The Wiyot tribe has lived in the Humboldt Bay Region for many thousands of years in villages on Indian Island and along the Mad River and also in the lower river, Eel River Basin.  The reservation is at the south end of Humboldt Bay and I live in Arcata at the north end of Humboldt Bay, and I consider them my neighbors.

On February 1860, a tragic massacre over three days’ time nearly destroyed the tribe.  The surviving members were forced off their land, sometimes forced into slavery, suffered disease, and loss of tribal status.  Today, the descendants of those survivors live on an 88-acre reservation along Humboldt Bay, which includes scenic Table Bluff and abuts the Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge.


As you will hear, the Wiyot tribe places a high value on protecting not only its people and their culture but also their ancestral lands, which includes Table Bluff and the Humboldt Bay Wildlife Refuge.  These areas are pristine, coastal lands, very environmentally sensitive areas of the state that are untouched by development and deserve to be preserved for future generations to Californians.  That’s why this compact is so important, not only to the tribe but to the state.  In the compact before us, the tribe has given up its rights to Class III gaming on its lands in exchange for a share of the revenues from the North Fork Gaming Compact so that the tribe can provide for its tribal members through health and education and housing programs and to pursue economic development without developing Table Bluff.  They initially agreed to these provisions in a compact with the Schwarzenegger administration and, like the North Fork tribe, have been waiting more than six years for this compact to come to fruition.


You know, the one having been in this building for quite a while and watching the development of Indian gaming in this state, the one criticism I have of it is that there’s no logical structure by which you can share the benefits across the board and make sure that—some tribes are doing really well while other tribes are left behind.  There’s a Revenue Sharing Fund and that certainly helps.  It doesn’t help a large tribe very much—I can tell you that—but it doesn’t go nearly far enough.  And so just speaking as a member of the Assembly and a former member of this house, the criteria I’ve come to apply is, To what degree does a compact help to address that problem, by sharing and spreading around the benefits of gaming to more Native American tribal members?  And I believe this compact really does meet that criteria.


The Wiyot tribe honors their lands and the need to preserve them through a very comprehensive environmental program.  For a tribe with such limited resources, they have invested a significant amount of effort into restoring and caring for their lands and worked with the federal government and local government, as well as local environmental groups, on environmental restoration and cleanup programs.  For that reason, this compact has across‑the-board support from local environmental groups.  They also reach out to the community by offering a variety of environmental education programs which is why the local environmental community supports them.

The revenues from this compact are badly needed to fund their tribal government programs and operations, tribal welfare and health programs, and spur economic development.  But it will also allow the Wiyot tribe to continue their good environmental work, including their restoration efforts of Indian Island where that massacre took place, and they’re restoring it both for its environmental and wetland values but also they’ve begun holding their World Renewal Ceremony which was last held the day that the massacre took place, and now it is being held at that village again and they’re restoring the village and the environment of the island, and they’ve engaged the entire community in supporting them in fundraising and helping to bring about, bring about that restoration.

So this is truly an admirable tribe and I think they deserve this.  The fact that they are more interested in protecting the environment than they are of taking advantage of their rights under the federal Indian gaming laws is admirable.  But I also think it’s admirable—the North Fork tribe should be thanked for their generosity and being willing to share portions of the revenue from their casino with another poor tribe and with a tribe that is dedicated to protecting such a pristine environmental resource.  So this compact is good for California; it’s good for our coastline; it’s good for Humboldt Bay, good for the tribe, good for the local community, and I urge your support and I again thank you for the courtesy of being able to speak with you today and also joining you for this hearing.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  There we go.  I’m going establish a quorum, since I have one.  Secretary, if you’d call the roll.


THE SECRETARY:  Wright.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Here.


THE SECRETARY:  Wright present.  Nielsen.


SENATOR JIM NIELSEN:  Present.

THE SECRETARY:  Nielsen present.  Berryhill.


SENATOR TOM BERRYHILL:  Here.

THE SECRETARY:  Berryhill present.  Calderon.  Cannella.

SENATOR ANTHONY CANNELLA:  Here.


THE SECRETARY:  Cannella present.  Correa.  De León.  Galgiani.  Hernandez.


SENATOR ED HERNANDEZ:  Here.


THE SECRETARY:  Hernandez present.  Lieu.


SENATOR TED W. LIEU:  Here.


THE SECRETARY:  Lieu present.  Padilla.


SENATOR ALEX PADILLA:  Here.


THE SECRETARY:  Padilla present.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’m going to deviate slightly.  There were two presentations that opened that were in support of the compact, and I want to extend time to Chairman Macarro.  I understand you will have 12 minutes.  I know you hadn’t prepared for this, but this does not count against the hour that you were going to take; but because there were two speaker who spoke in favor—and although they were assemblymembers who were speaking, I still want to afford you that same opportunity.  So there’s 12 minutes available to you that will not be charged against the hour, if you would like to take that.


Again, what I’m saying is, we will give you time at the podium that will not be charged against the hour or presentation or it may be someone else, but I’m just trying to keep the time balance that we did so I’m recognizing again that the assemblymembers were speaking in favor of, and I understand that there are people here in opposition so I want to afford the same amount of time, but equally as important, try to afford the same circumstance of the time.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Chairman, can I just ask a question?  We can ____ now?


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Right, right.  Yes, ma’am.


Again, Chairman Macarro, again, what I’m recognizing is that there were two speakers who spoke in favor of the—you can use that one right there, yeah—there were two speakers who spoke in favor of the compact.  And even though they were members of the legislature, I know that there were people who had considerations against it and concerns.  So prior to the presentations, I wanted to make sure that we afforded equal time to the extent that that was possible.   So I know you hadn’t prepared for that and I apologize.  And again, this does not count against the time that I know that you’ve prepared, you know, in opposition, in that time, so this is, you know, just something that, again, I saw that.  I didn’t know specifically what the other assemblymembers were going to say.  So given that, you’ve got 12 minutes, sir, and thank you for going with us on live TV here.


MR. MARK MACARRO:  I’m happy to accommodate and thank you for the opportunity.

Well, Chairman Wright and members of the Committee, good afternoon.  My name is Mark Macarro, and I serve as the duly elected tribal chairman of the Pechanga Band of Luiseño Indians.  ______________—it’s good to be with you here this afternoon.


The Pechanga Indian Reservation is located in Riverside County and near Temecula.  In our language, we are the Pechanga Payómkawichum.  We live in the Temecula Valley which is a place known by the ancient name of Exva Temeeku, and thankfully it’s a city incorporated a decade and a half—a couple of decades ago.  They preserved part of the name, Temecula, which derives from Exva Temeeku, and that name is part of our creation story because we believe that the world was created in the Temecula Valley.  It’s where life began and our roots there go well back over 10,000 years.  In fact, one of the names for an animal that is in our language, is in our songs, is uchinaut ?? and that’s a word for the bison, and the last bison in the Temecula Valley actually were the Pleistocene bison. They’ve been discovered through development by paleontologists, along with mastodons and saber-tooth cats and those big wolves and stuff like that.  And so that’s how far back our people have knowledge of things that lived in the valley and that we’ve been in the valley because that’s where the world started.

Let me say that more recently, 15 years ago, in fact, Californians voted for Proposition 5 by a margin of 63 percent to 37 percent to authorize Indian gaming on existing Indian lands.  Let me say that again—to authorize Indian gaming on existing Indian lands.  Now two years after that, voters again overwhelmingly approved Proposition 1A, and the vote that time was 65 to 35 percent so actually a 2 percent bump in the overall vote.


During each of those campaigns, I served as the primary spokesmen for those historic campaigns.  The duty of responding to what was then the anti‑Indian and anti-tribal scare tactics and distortions of the Nevada casinos, those distortions were that the casinos would sprout up like weeds all throughout California.  That fell to me, in TV commercials in debates throughout the state, interviews with reporters.  The Pechanga Band believes that each and every federally recognized tribe is sovereign in its own right and enjoys all of the rights and responsibilities that flow from being a governmental sovereign.  Those include the right to pursue economic development, to improve the quality of life for all tribal members.  Now similarly, we believe that each and every tribe that undertook the campaigns to pass Propositions 5 in 1998 and 1A in 2000, each tribe has a moral obligation to stand by that explicit commitment that was made to voters, that Indian gaming would be limited to existing Indian lands.  Now the decision to authorize Class III gaming on a limited basis on tribal lands was not a capricious judgment by the voters, and the fundamental tenets behind that statewide approval should be honored by our state’s elected representatives.

Now the fact of the matter is that the North Fork Rancheria currently has land in trust that is eligible for gaming, that their existing land base is not as commercially advantageous as the land next to the freeway, is neither a unique circumstance, nor a good reason to abandon the state’s longstanding public policy; and in fact, it flies in face of the expressed will of the voters for limited gaming in California.  And just tangentially, let me add or underscore even that the history of most, nearly every tribe in California, is that the lands we have today are in fact lands that the public in general didn’t want and couldn’t be given in the 1800s largely.  It was land that—well, there was an anthropologist, a late anthropologist, named Florence Shipek—I knew her personally.  She authored some scholarly texts of Southern California, and one of her more well‑known books is called Pushed Into the Rocks.  That idea encapsulates the story of tribes in California.  Tribes were pushed into the rocks onto land that didn’t have any running water.  If there was a spring, you were lucky, and all the well-watered, airable land of the 1800s was taken up by everybody else, so land nobody wanted is the land we ended up with.


Indeed, the majority of tribal governments in California have small land bases in remote areas that are not so ideally conducive to large gaming projects.  This is why 72 Indian tribes, the vast majority of tribes in this state, throughout the state, receive funding from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, presumably because they too have lands that are small, remote, and not conducive to the type of project that North Fork now seeks with its Las Vegas casino developer, Station Casinos.  These reservation-shopping, developer‑driven gaming proposals, like Station’s North Fork, have infected Indian gaming for over a decade now.  Tribes used to respect and honor the boundaries of each other.  In fact, most still do, but casino developers don’t care one way or the other.


Now these carpetbagger developers virtually shop around for the best combination of a small tribe and urban proximity.  They buy land, they give it to a tribe, and they got about getting the approvals after the fact.  These reservation-shopping schemes are insidious and should not be condoned by you.  You have the power to say no.  And, ironically, Station Casinos was one of the Las Vegas corporations that argued Proposition 5 would result in casinos sprouting up throughout California cities and suburbs.  They were a key player in the Nevada Resorts Association’s campaign against Prop. 5.  Now here they are, this day and age, attempting to do precisely what they then criticized.  You will be incentivizing such bad behavior if you approve this compact.  So don’t.  But if you do, rest assured, what will be a seismic policy shift will result in more attempts by developer-driven leap-frogging tribes that will bring gaming ever closer to urban areas.


Now clearly, a fundamental question of fairness lies at the heart of this debate.  How is ratification of this compact fair to the vast majority of Indian tribes in California who have kept their promise, who have honored their commitment to the voters of this state, and have developed their existing tribal lands instead of pursuing more demographically advantageous lands and locations?  The massive swing in public policy that you are considering today undermines the honor and integrity of those tribes who did keep their promise to California voters, and those tribes have made significant investments that benefit not only the reservation communities but the surrounding communities as well.  The fact that every local tribe stands united in opposition to this project is evidence that the approval of the North Fork Compact is not a sound solution.  The proposed bill is a wrong solution that destabilizes the otherwise carefully balance policy that has governed Indian gaming in California for a decade and a half.


Now Governor Brown frequently talks about returning important decisions and authority closer to the people—to the counties, to the cities—and we agree with this.  Well, but we think that this decision is important and should also include the perspective of the local tribal governments as well.  The state should not ignore the opposition of every single tribe in that region, tribes whose ancestors governed those lands for millennia, before Cabrillo ever set foot on California soil.  I’m sure he’s up there somewhere.


We submit to you that ratification of this particular compact would not serve the interests of the majority of tribes in California, the communities in which they’re situation, nor a majority of Californians in general.  We urge you to heed the collective wisdom of the electorate which has repeatedly expressed itself, its will regarding Indian gaming in California throughout our state.  This policy, this compact, represents a policy of a slippery slope, and we urge you to deny the Station Casino’s North Fork Compact.  Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


What I’m going to do now is move into the presentation from the Governor’s Office, the lead negotiator, Jacob Appelsmith, and you can have a seat at the table.  We won’t force you to stand.

Again, the time that we described earlier, at the beginning of this meeting, there’s still an hour on both sides to present; and the time that was done at the beginning does not charge against that so there’ll still be a full hour; and the speakers that were slated to talk in that hour, that’s still up to you.  But we’re now going to hear from Jacob Appelsmith from the Governor’s Office and he will tell us about the negotiations by the compact.

MR. JACOB APPELSMITH:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee.  I have worked with Jerry Brown on tribal issues for the past five years, and it has been the greatest honor of my professional life.  As any tribal leader in this state will tell you, there has never been a governor with more commitment and compassion to California’s native people than Governor Brown.

The North Fork and Wiyot compacts reflect that commitment and compassion because they do what no compacts have done before.  They, without precedent, do exactly what the people of the State of California wanted when they approved tribal gaming 12 years ago.  They benefit tribal people.  They do so directly by providing significant gaming revenues to the 2,500 citizens of the North Fork and the Wiyot tribes.  They do so indirectly by providing unprecedented revenue sharing with tribes that are not significantly benefitting from gaming.

In an era when tribes are dis-enrolling their members, thereby cutting them off from their tribal identify and benefits, the North Fork tribe has every single year, since 1996, increased its membership rolls and now has over 1,900 tribal citizens.  The Wiyot tribe has 600 members and it too is growing.  These are wonderful, proud people but they have not received any of the benefit from tribal gaming.  They are mired in the type of poverty that Proposition 1A and tribal gaming were designed to ameliorate.  This is their chance.
In 2012, 38 percent of North Fork’s members lived in households with less than $20,000 in income; and 28 percent of North Fork’s members lived in households with less than $10,000 in income.  More than a third of tribal homes are not what we would consider to be places where people in California should live because they have no running water or no clean drinking water, no usable toilets, or they have other building defects that make them substandard housing.

The Wiyot tribe live on a beautiful reservation in Mr. Chesbro’s district along the California Coast, but 30 percent of their members are unemployed; 40 percent of their members live below the federal poverty line, and they have 14 employees and a million-dollar budget to meet the needs of their tribal citizens and to preserve their tribal culture.  The North Fork’s compact will make a dramatic change for the Wiyot.  As Mr. Hall said, it will provide $3.7 million in the first year, growing to $5.2 million by year ’10 and thereafter.

The revenue sharing for limited-gaming and non-gaming tribes, unprecedented.  Perhaps Graton will provide more, but the North Fork is going to provide $4.5 million in the first year, $8.5 million in year three; by year seven, $15 million a year and growing.  That is incredible and that is an achievement of both Governor Brown’s and of the North Fork people.  And in something never before done in a tribal-gaming compact, we looked at the impacts on other tribes.  We determined that only one tribe’s casino would be impacted in a way that would prevent that tribe from having its people materially benefit from tribal gaming—and that’s Chukchansi.  So in our compact, we put mitigation payments from the North Fork to Chukchansi to mitigate that impact.  This compact is not only right for tribal people; it’s also right for the county of Madera, the city of Madera, and the county of Humboldt.  As Mr. Bigelow has said, this is something that the local people want and desperately need and North Fork will mitigate all of its impact on those local communities.

Now you’re going to hear people say a variety of things today, some of which Chairman Macarro has already spoken to and some of which Mr. Hall has already rebutted in part.  But I keep hearing these questions; I keep having to answer these questions, so I just want to lay them right out for you.  And after I’m done, Mr. Chairman, I’m also happy to answer questions now or I’ll sit and wait, whatever you’d like me to do, because this is important to the governor and to tribal people in California.

You’re going to hear people say that North Fork did not play by the rules.  Well, what are the rules?  Here they are, real quick:  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act was adopted in 1988.  It specified what tribal lands a tribe had the right to game on.  In 2000, the people of the state of California passed Proposition 1A, and what does it speak to as eligible tribal lands?  It uses the terms “tribal lands.”  North Fork in 2003 decided it wanted (to ?) game.  So it went to the county of Madera—and Mr. Bigelow was part of this process—and they said this what we want to do; where should we do this?  Should we do it up in the Sierra/Nevada foothills at the end of a dirt road on 80 environmentally sensitive acres?  No.  What they worked out with the county was to go down to the 305 acres that are the subject of the compact and they selected this land in partnership with the county and the city.  And what was the purpose of this land dedicated to be?  A NASCAR racetrack.  Instead, it’s going to be a casino, an entirely consistent use.
So what was the process they followed?  They went to the locals; they got support.  And then they went through the federal process; and for about every hundred tribes that go into it, about three emerged and those are not usually successful.  Only seven now have made it through with a positive result.  And so what do they do?  They worked with the Secretary of Interior; they prepared environmentals; they had public hearings; they had public comment; they generated thousands of pages of documents.  And in not until 2011 did they get the go ahead from the Secretary of Interior.  So they followed federal law, consistent with California law, and they made it through the process, again, a tribute to their cooperation with local communities and their vision.  And then what did they do?  They came to our office and we spent an entire year working with the North Fork tribe, the Chukchansi tribe, with local community groups, with anybody that wanted to talk to us about this.

I went down to Madera; I stood in the fields; I went to the Chukchansi Reservation; I went to the Table Bluff Reservation in Humboldt County; I went to the 80 acres in North Fork.  I talked to anybody and everybody who wanted to talk to me; and anything they wanted me to read, I read and I talked about it with the governor.  That’s the process they went through.  The governor himself—August is kind of busy in this town—the governor himself in August met with the Chukchansi tribe prior to making this decision and he met with them before.  We exhaustively looked at this.  The only difference in the end is, we just did not agree with the opponents of this because our commitment is to tribal welfare and tribal sovereignty, and that is what tribal gaming is supposed to do and that’s why the governor concurred.

Now you’re going to hear this said—this is off reservation.  It’s not off reservation.  This is the reservation.  Reservations exist in California because the federal government says they do and the federal government says this 305 acres is a reservation, and that’s the end of that story.  It’s not off-reservation gaming.

You’re going to hear about the 80 acres, okay?  The 80 acres of all the issues that have been raised in the recent weeks is the one that surprises me the most, and here’s why.

Number one, the North Fork tribe does not own a single inch of that 80 acres.  The rancheria system in California is a decree by the federal government that the tribe’s Indian lands were at one time those 80 acres, and that is still part of what we call Indian Country.  It is owned, however, by five individuals, not by the tribe.  The tribe can’t just go and open up a casino, a business, or a lemonade stand on someone else’s land.  They have to own it and they don’t.  Could they buy it and would it be gaming eligible?  Yes, but they don’t own it, okay?
Number two, I have walked that land; I have driven that land.  It is a fantastic piece of property.  Any Californian would be proud to see the oak trees and the manzanita and the dust that comes up in the end of the summer—no question about it—and I would love to have a cabin on land like that.  But could I open up a casino on it, a croquet court, a tennis court?  No.  It’s on a slope.  It is not commercially viable for anything, okay?  When the North Fork tribe—they’ve got more land, as I think Mr. Bigelow said, they’ve got 61 acres now in the town of North Fork—that’s where they built their tribal center; that’s where they built their housing because it’s conducive to that, okay?  They could not game on that and they cannot game on that 80 acres.  It’s not lawful at the moment and it’s just not practical.

You’re also going to hear, and have somewhat heard already, about the floodgates of this.  And as I mentioned before, this is an extremely difficult process.  The last three of these came up—it’s this one and the Enterprise Compact—excuse me—tribe—but the Guidiville tribe that tried to go into Richmond was denied—okay?—because they didn’t have aboriginal connections to the land.
Now the floodgates—when Governor Brown concurred, he sent a letter to Interior and he went through what he considered to be exceptional circumstances and he was clear this is unusual and he said, in conclusion, in his concurrence letter:  “I expect there will be few requests from other tribes that will present the same kind of exceptional circumstances to support a similar expansion of tribal gaming land.”


Now I will close out by coming back to the beginning about what Proposition 1A is about, which is tribal welfare, tribal well-being, tribal sovereignty.  Proposition 1A speaks of tribal land.  With due respect to Chairman Macarro, he doesn’t speak to existing tribal land.  It speaks to tribal land which is defined by the federal government.  Now what Chairman Macarro and the proponents put in the official ballot argument in favor of Prop. 1A is the following:  “We are asking voters to protect Indian gaming on tribal land so that we can preserve the only option most tribes have to get our people off welfare.  We are asking you to let us take care of ourselves and pay or own way.”  That’s what he said and what I’m saying to you is, this is exactly what the North Fork and Wiyot Compacts are about—the benefits of tribal gaming going to as many tribal members in the state of California as possible and following all the processes that people expect in this state with respect to their rights and their welfare of their fellow citizens.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Members of the Committee.  I’m happy to answer questions now or I will sit and wait.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Questions from the Committee?

Senator Lieu.

SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you for your presentation.  I have not decided how I will vote on this on the Senate floor but I have decided my thinking process, and it’s very clear to me that the only the reason this compact is here today is because of Proposition 1A.  It’s a grantor authority by the voters to allow this to happen.  And so to me, it’s simply a question of, Did the proponents of Proposition 1A and the voters who approved it, would they have wanted this situation?  I think there’s arguments on both sides.

So my question to you, because some of these references you made, for example, are to the environment.  I just see nothing of Prop. 1A that talks about the environment and I’m not sure why that’s relevant.  I don’t think the voters were asked to decide to do this for the environment.  When I read the same thing you read on the ballot argument for Prop. 1A, sort of the first sentence says, We’re asking to vote yes on Proposition 1A so we can keep the gaming we have on our reservation.  And then when you sort of look at the rebuttals to it and so on, you’ll have statements in here—this is the official Secretary of State’s argument or pamphlet.  It will say, The majority of Indian tribes are located in remote reservations.  The fact is that markets will only support a limited number of machines.
So just with that, I’m just curious, Do you believe the voters would have intended this situation, given what was told to them and what they read?  Because the language of Prop. 1A is pretty narrow.  It doesn’t say anything about environment.  It just basically says, hey, the government can do compacts if the legislature ratifies it.

MR. APPELSMITH:  The environment is not, is not the legal basis or the primary basis for this compact.  Rather, the environmental benefits of this particular compact speak to its overall positive policy for California so I think that’s really what’s germane to that.

In terms of what the voters intended, the voters—there were concerns in the ballot arguments about casino operators trying to move into metropolitan areas, and this not anyone moving into metropolitan areas so it’s consistent with that.  The voters were also told that there would be limits on where tribes could game, and this is consistent with that because only land that the federal government says is gaming eligible can be gamed upon; and for tribe to achieve this is pretty remarkable.

And I would also say that there have been a variety of other situations where tribes have gone beyond the scope of what they were doing at that time.  So at that time, there were some tribes operating as many as 2,000 machines and there are tribes now, including Chairman Macarro’s—and I think that’s wonderful for the Pechanga people—but they have operated as many as 4,300 machines and that is because they formed a new compact for the state.  So that, you know, it has, like everything in California, were not fixed in time as to 2000 and there’s nothing in Proposition 1A as to which this is contrary.
SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you.  I have another question.

You had mentioned that essentially that the tribe, I think, is landless and my understanding is, under IGRA, you can go through two paths—one is the two-set process which is sort of harder or you can go through—which requires a concurrence by the governor—or you can go through the landless route.  My question is why the tribe didn’t do the easier route.

Second, I’m reading the official determination from the United States Department of Interior, dated September 1, 2011, and on page 2 it says, The tribe currently possesses 80 acres of land, rancheria in Madera County, which is held in trust for its benefit by the United States.
Did they just get that wrong?

MR. APPELSMITH:  They got that wrong.

SENATOR LIEU:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then what about my first question?

MR. APPELSMITH:  And let me also say, I don’t want to undermine the Secretary of Interior but they did get that wrong.  Partly that’s a unique function of the way that a California rancheria exists.  It’s a very confusing system that really only is present in the state of California and so, yes, it is tribal Indian country; it is their rancheria.  And so I can only speculate that they didn’t take the inquiry further than that.  And let me also say, they didn’t need to take the inquiry further than that because the 80 acres is not viable as Interior recognized, and the two-part process envisions that a tribe may have land that is gaming eligible and is now looking for other land that is not qualified under IGRA without an exception.
SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you, appreciate it.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Senator Nielsen.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  Thank you.

Mr. Appelsmith, you know, there was a citation of the findings and representations in 1A, and we understand that there’s a whole body of case law related to intent.  But I would argue that some of the exigent ?? circumstances today were not envisioned, or even wildly, at the time that this would happen, it is happening.

My question is rather specific.  In this particular case, the Secretary made a determination, correct?  I assume the governor agreed with that determination of the Secretary as to the designation of this land, correct?

MR. APPELSMITH:  He agreed with it but he also did an analysis specific to California as to whether it was right for California because he could have said no and not given any reasons for saying no.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  Well, whether he had said yes or no, what legal authority does the governor have?  I’m just—I don’t know.  Is it statutory; is it an initiative language?  What is the specific legal citation for him to say yes or no, to agree or disagree, with the Secretary’s determination?

MR. APPELSMITH:  The federal law of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, like many federal statutes, requires or has the power of a governor of the state of California to certify something and is what this was, another federal piece of law that required, that asked the governor’s certification.  The governor certifies things all the time. The governor agrees with things all the time, for example, a condition of getting grant funding, and this is one where this is what federal law says.  There’s absolutely nothing in California law that precludes the governor from doing this.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  How would you respond to a concern that I may have about a slippery slope, prospectively, if we establish precedent that has implications?  Could anticipate a “slippery slope” by many, many such Interior decisions, so many decisions by successive governors?

MR. APPELSMITH:  Okay, a couple of things.  One, there’s only two tribes right now that are in any significant way along the process, and that’s the Los Coyotes tribe that wants to go to Barstow and it is the Manzanita tribe that wants to go Calexico; and their federal record is ripe for a decision, so they are along the process where we’re either going to get a two-part yes from Interior or we’re going to get the Interior saying no.  No other tribe is anywhere remotely in the process; and that process, by what we’ve seen, is seven—five, seven, ten years, okay?  And there’s a reason, because it’s hard, it’s expensive, and it’s uncertain.

Now the governor is very mindful of the purpose of tribal gaming to benefit communities, to fulfill the intent of 1A, and to benefit other tribes.  And that’s why, when we looked at this, we did exhaustive work to ensure that this was not going to be something that it materially impacted any other tribe’s ability to benefit its citizens, except for Chukchansi, and that’s why we put mitigation in there.  There are not too many places in California where there is room in the gaming market in a place where a tribe might actually be successful in seeking a two-part determination, and that’s just the function of the fact that the market is generally saturated everywhere.  This is a place where it’s not.  Barstow may be a place where it’s not, but the Los Coyotes tribe there is going to have a difficult showing, as would any tribe, that it has aboriginal connections to Barstow.

So there’s a long way to go.  It is really a very exceptional situation; and only one time, other time, in California do we ever see this.  That was Fort Mojave in Needles.  And I will just note for the historic record, that in 2006, no one made a fuss about that one.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  Some things weren’t envisioned.  Anyway, there are some possibilities here.  I respect your response, though.  Thank you.  I am concerned about the slippery slope.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’ve got Senator Lieu and then Senator Galgiani.

SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you.  I apologize.  I have two additional questions.

I’m reading the same Secretary of Interior decision again on page 5.  I again mention that this was not off-reservation gaming.  This letter says,  Therefore, when a tribe seeks to have land acquired in trust on its behalf for off‑reservation gaming, the Secretary determination necessarily precedes the completion of the trust acquisition.

Did they get it wrong on that too?


MR. APPELSMITH:  No.  They didn’t get it wrong.  But now that is the tribe’s reservation.  Off reservation is a speculation of a tribe moving somewhere, where it doesn’t have a right to game.  But the Department of the Interior has already taken that land into trust and it is part of the tribe’s reservation.


SENATOR LIEU:  But this is the decision referring to it as off-reservation gaming?


MR. APPELSMITH:  It’s referring to the process of how a tribe can have land taken into trust, away from its reservation, off its current reservation, okay?  But once the Secretary does that, it’s no longer off their reservation; it’s on their reservation and that’s what it is now.


SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you.


And then second question is, when I look at the oppose letters, it’s not just Chukchansi that’s opposing this.  It seems like it’s a lot of Native American tribes up and down the state.  I don’t know.  It seems to me that probably the majority, or maybe even an overwhelming majority, oppose this.  And how would you respond to the argument, that if in fact the governor is trying to help Native Americans, it turns out that most of them oppose it?  It’s certainly an odd argument to make.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I want to do something here.  I’m going to go to Ms. Galgiani because those…


SENATOR LIEU:  That’s my last question.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yeah, they’re going to represent themselves in just a little bit so it’s not his place to do that.  They’ll articulate their concern.


Senator Galgiani.


SENATOR GALGIANI:  Thank you.  First of all, I’m familiar with the area because it’s close to my old Assembly district and we have Chukchansi but we also have Table Mountain which is a little bit south of Chukchansi, and it’s south and east of the proposed North Fork Station Casino.  And so I’m wondering if there have been any conversations with the folks at Table Mountain and whether they were included in any of these negotiations.

MR. APPELSMITH:  Yes, we have had contact with Table Mountain.  We have communications from this.  We opened ourselves to meet with them, however they wanted.  We did meet with—I did meet with one of their representatives.

We also did analyze the impact on Table Mountain.  Table Mountain, as you probably know, is an incredibly successful facility.  It’s not leveraged in the way that Chukchansi is.  It has a relatively small tribal population and so there will be some impact; but the Table Mountain members themselves will continue to greatly benefit from tribal gaming, even if North Fork competes with it in the way that we predict.


SENATOR GALGIANI:  But were they consulted with in the same way that the other tribe was consulted with to have—I know the other tribe has an agreement whereby they’ll receive 3 percent of earnings, profits.  Was that kind of conversation—did that occur with the Table Mountain folks also?


MR. APPELSMITH:  We did not have that conversation with Table Mountain because Table Mountain, one, did not ask; and, two, again, we recognize that any new business is going to compete with other businesses and to some degree take away their business.  But with Table Mountain, we did not feel it is appropriate to mitigate because, again, their tribal members will continue to benefit from a very profitable casino and it will remain very profitable—and good for them.

SENATOR GALGIANI:  Okay.  I had more question.  So when all of the discussions started quite a number of years ago about North Fork, I know that there were some individuals who were meeting with some local elected officials in the Los Banos area that was in Merced County, and there were some individuals associated with another gaming facility, if you will, casino outside of California, that were discussing possibly partnering with some of the Native Americans and having a partnership, if you will, for property to build a casino.  That conversation didn’t end up going too far but it leads me to think, if we’re making an exception here, based on the existing lands and having a discussion about what that definition is and we look down the road, if we do something like this, is there then an opportunity for others in the business who are non‑tribes to come in and find members who are tribal members and set up joint partnerships, joint companies, and do something like this then where they are able to purchase land; and now we find ourselves in a position where we’ve got others just that are in the industry that are working with our tribal members and expanding gaming?  And if that—does that or does that not fit in with what the voters passed with Prop. 1A?


MR. APPELSMITH:  Well, a couple of things on that.  Is it possible that others will see this and decide that they want to invest in a tribe that, to sponsor a two-part determination?  Sure, it’s possible.  But what I would say is that—and there’s such a lengthy process; and if it is not something the local representatives and officials want, it’s not going to go anywhere, okay?  So here again, Mr. Bigelow, they worked with this tribe to identify this land.  The governor of the state of California at the time, Arnold Schwarzenegger, signed a compact with them in 2008 to encourage them to do this, and so this is not some tribe that operated in the dead of night in some place that didn’t want them to go in there, okay?  So you can ask representatives of any, anyone, who would sponsor something like this.  They’re going to have to sink $25 million into what is a highly speculative venture.  And if they’re told, given a thumbs down at the beginning of it, they’re not going to do it.


Again, it rests with the governor.  This is not—at this point in time, whether the governor was right or wrong, this tribe is going to be able to open a casino on this land.  It’s just now a question of whether it will be under the terms of this compact or under other terms.  That’s the question before the committee.  It’s not to ratify the concurrence.  It’s to ratify the compact.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  I want to go back a little bit, if I could.

Senator Nielsen raised—and I just want to make sure.  So the issue of concurrence or non-concurrence, is it specified in law that the governor may concur or is it simply not specified that he can’t?


MR. APPELSMITH:  Okay.  Under federal law, it says the governor may or not concur.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Does California law speak to it?


MR. APPELSMITH:  It does not speak to it.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  So the law in California in this area is then silent, so we operated pursuant to the federal law?


MR. APPELSMITH:  Correct.  The only law in the state of California that addresses compacts is the legislature’s role in ratifying compacts.  It does not speak to a role for determining what land is gaming eligible or not.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’m looking at another point, though.  So if—because there might be a concurrent requirement for land that might not be, being considered for gaming.


MR. APPELSMITH:  No.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  There may be a reason…


MR. APPELSMITH:  Concurrence is only gaming specific.  We all the time have tribes taking land into trust around this state.  The governor is entitled on behalf of the people to file objections, but there’s no official role for the governor to play in the decision of the Secretary of the Interior.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  And the other point that you just made—so the issue before us, relative to this compact is, that if we don’t ratify the compact, there was nothing that would preclude North Fork from engaging in a Class II operation which would not require a compact?


MR. APPELSMITH:  That point is clear.  The second point is, Can they engage in Class III gaming without a compact?  The answer to that is a little confusing under federal law and you can ask the tribe’s attorney more about that, but the United States Supreme Court has said, that if you have gaming in a state, all tribes are eligible to participate in that gaming on gaming-eligible land.  So if other tribes are engaging in Class III gaming, presumably there has to be a road for this tribe to insist that it can participate in Class III gaming.  But even if they don’t, they can open up a casino tomorrow, like the Lytton Band Casino, a wonderful facility.  You would walk in there and you would think you were in Las Vegas because their machines are very sophisticated—it’s not like playing Bingo—but they are technically Class II machines.  And from that, the state gets no money and the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund gets no money, and no other tribe in the state of California does.

Now, again, I respect the Lytton’s rights to do what they’re doing—it’s totally fine—but this is a situation where we can truly benefit California and other tribes with a project.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Further questions from the committee? 


Mr. Appelsmith, if you could stay with us for a while.  I mean, there may be a question that we have later.  I mean, if you have to go, I understand.


I’m going to ask that Elaine Bethel-Fink and the tribal persons from North Fork and from the Wiyot group, if you would come and have a seat at the table, we’re going to begin your presentation.

Right in the—sit in the front row is fine.


MS. ELAINE BETHEL-FINK:  Madam Chairwoman, what we’re going to do here is, you have an hour.  This is the portion of the program that is timed.  If there is a question from this side, we’ll stop the clock and that won’t count against your hour but we will allow you a full hour to say as much or as little as you want, and you do not have to take an hour but you have an hour that is available to you, to use however you will, and, Madam Chairwoman, it’s yours.  And you can go from here or there.  It’s up to you.  If you’re comfortable there, give it a go.


MS. BETHEL-FINK:  I’m comfortable here.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.


MS. BETHEL-FINK:  Good afternoon, Chair, and also the Senate.  I am more than happy to be here.  I’m very honored to be here today to talk about our tribe and our proposed gaming project.


First, out of respect, I want to introduce our tribal council—Maryann McGovran, who’s our vice-chairwoman; Katrina Gutierrez, our secretary; Bonnie Hale, treasurer; and Pat Beihn, member.  Thank you.

I want to thank and recognize the tribal citizens for coming today, and especially the elders who made the trip here, and to support their tribal council and also the tribal citizens.  Mun a hoo e bosos.  That means Hello, my friends, and I want to thank all of our supporters too and I would like them to stand and be recognized, please.


Thank you so very much.  ________. That means sit down.  (Laughter)  We don’t have a word for goodbye in our language.  It’s either sit down or be on your way; and be on your way is ah-we-ah-no.


Out of respect, I would also like to acknowledge the other tribal leaders that are here today and I know there are some in the group.


We now have 1,984 tribal citizens and are one of the largest tribes in California.  We recently had an elder pass away, just over a couple of weeks ago.  The Mono people lived for centuries in the San Joaquin and what is today Madera County.  Madera County is our home in the Sierra Nevada mountains.  Our people were hunters and gatherers.  Our basket makers still gather roots and reeds from the riverbeds today as they did a long time ago.  We are very well known for our basket making, and especially the watertight ones that we can cook our acorn in.


We traveled and we migrated according to the seasons.  Like other California tribes, we were considered landless when the Senate refused to ratify the treaties.  These treaties had been—they had set land aside for us in the early 1850s.  In 1910, a Presbyterian mission was established in North Fork to help all Mono people.  In 1916, 80 acres was given to the North Fork Band of landless Indians and that property was near the mission.  In 1958, the California Rancheria Act was enacted for 41 tribes.  This act took away the recognition of those tribes, as well as their language and culture.  The land that these 41 tribes had were considered too small.  The 80 acres were given to a family who had lived there for generations.  That family had paid taxes on the land _______.  We have all the legal and factual documentation concerning that 80 acres which clearly shows that it is not North Fork Rancheria property.  It is in private ownership.


Nearly 20 years later, the Tillie Hardwick decision, it was a class-action lawsuit, was filed by CILS, who is the California Indian Legal Services, nearly 20 years later that lawsuit was settled for 17 tribes, which included us.  Our tribe’s federally recognized status was restored, and the land boundaries for the 80 acres was reestablished as Indian country.  However, it still remained in private ownership.


This makes our tribe, North Fork Rancheria, virtually landless and we have no jurisdiction over the land and it’s a very unique situation.  We established our tribal government in 1996 when we enacted our constitution and we’re very, very proud of the accomplishments of our tribe.  Through grants, we purchased property for housing exclusively.  We operate a TANF program, which is Temporary Assistance for Needy Families, and that’s for four counties.  We have an Environmental Department, a Housing Department, Transportation.  And besides PG&E and the Forest Service, we are the largest employer in North Fork.  We, along with partners in the project, which includes Madera County, have built a local fire station for the benefit of the entire community—Indian and non-Indian alike—and we just had our ribbon cutting and our dedication last Friday.


As far back as 1999, we have looked towards the possibility of gaming to supplement those program dollars that are very limited.  We looked at several developers.  And in 2003, we signed a contract with Station Casino who at that time managed Thunder Valley.  We also had to identify a property that would be within our historical lands for this project.  So after many meetings and discussions with Madera County supervisors, we jointly identified a 305-acre parcel four miles from the heart of Madera, along the 99 Highway, just 36 miles from our tribal offices, and within our historical area.  We entered into MOUs with the county of Madera and the city and the Madera Irrigation District, and these are all identified in the Compact.


We also entered into a project labor agreement with the construction trades and the card-check neutrality agreement with UNITE HERE.  For our Trust Land application, the Bureau of Indian Affairs spent eight years preparing an environmental impact statement.  This is comprised of binders, and we’re not talking the small binders; we’re talking the big, fat, big ones.  And when stacked together, they’re over a foot high.  It was extremely thorough.


In 2011, the Secretary of the Interior made the determination that our facility would be in the best interests of our tribe and not detrimental to the surrounding community.  The Secretary also found, through numerous tribal consultations, that we have historical ties to the land and it is close to our tribal citizens.  Most of the 1,984 people that we have live in Madera and Fresno Counties.  A year later, the governor concurred with this determination, citing our unique and extraordinary circumstances; and on that same day, we entered into a new compact with the state.  Early ratification of our compact by the legislature will allow and pay for state regulatory oversight of our Class III gaming facility and provide significant revenues to non-gaming tribes, including the revenues to the Wiyot tribe.  The Wiyot tribe has exercised their sovereign right to forego Class III gaming on their environmentally sensitive land in Humboldt County in exchange for revenues from our project to help them, and this will benefit their tribal citizens and help maintain their pristine lands.  This was an act of their sovereignty to be included in our compact.  Just as important, ratification of this compact will allow us to secure the financing that’s required to build the first phase of this facility.  Along with that, it will provide a huge economic boost to the Central Valley through this creation of some 750 jobs, 1,500 to 1,750 permanent jobs, in addition to 2,000 support jobs anticipated in the surrounding community.


When Congress enacted IGRA, the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, in 1988, it was clear that it was intended to benefit tribal governments and their members.  Congress understood that some tribes, especially in California, were left with little or no land bases and it wasn’t fair and it was inconsistent with the government’s trust responsibilities to limit that opportunity.  So under Section 20 of this act, Congress created a few exceptions to allow gaming on land taken into trust for a tribe after 1988.


Several California tribes, including Mooretown, Paskenta, United Auburn, which is Thunder Valley, and others have properly relied on one Section 20 exception that does not provide that the governor have a veto power.  Several California tribes, including Paskenta, United Auburn, Thunder Valley, and others object to our tribe’s reliance on a different Section 20, which does.  We are relying on the Section 20 two-part exception that does provide the governor a veto power, including the ratification of the compact from you.  Proposition 1A authorized gaming on Indian lands as a matter of justice and fairness, and it defies common sense to claim that it had anything to do with technical difference between the restored land and two-part exceptions.  The opening of the floodgates makes little sense, as this is a long, strenuous, and expensive process and very few tribes have gotten the approval.  Over the last 25 years, since IGRA was enacted in the entire United States, out of 566 recognized tribes, there have been only seven tribes that have been approved, including North Fork Rancheria.  We have been in this process for nearly a decade.  We made our announcement in March of 2004 that we are going to pursue gaming as an economic opportunity.


We’re asking for your support in ratifying our compact.  On behalf of North Fork Rancheria, the 1,984 tribal citizens—I wish every one of them were here—the 650 Wiyot tribal citizens, and all of our supporters, I thank you for your attention, your time, and your consideration.  Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Whosever next.


MR. TED HERNANDEZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee, I would also like to thank Chairman Isadore Hall for authoring AB 277 and including the Wiyot tribe of this compact.


My name is Ted Hernandez and I am the Wiyot Tribal Chair of the Wiyot Tribal Council.  I would also like to recognize a youth that came along with me, William Robert Frank, IV.  He is also our vice-chair in our Youth Council.


As many of you heard, the Wiyot tribe is a small tribe.  We have 860 members.  And, yes, Elaine had said, we did give up our right to do Class III gaming, and the reason why my tribe has agreed to do this is because, as many of you know, as I see on your mural, the Redwood Forest, the lost coast, it’s a beautiful land; it’s a beautiful territory.  It has so much environmental safes ?? up there that we want to take care of it.  We have the rivers that we would like bring back to health for our salmon run, our eel run.  As many of you don’t know, that the rivers that are out there right now are contaminated, that if you drink out of this river, you’ll die.


So our main priority is making sure our people are safe.  That’s one of the reasons that we are giving up our Class III gaming right.  With the help of North Fork, it would help us bring in economic development as well, as well as healthcare, homes for our tribal members that are homeless because many of our tribal members are homeless and living on the streets with their children.  We want to bring them home.  We want to give them homes to live in.

North Folk’s compact will also help us bring back studies for our rivers.  They’ll also help with the healthiest care.  You may have noticed, Native Americans have a higher risk of diabetes, alcoholism, drug abuse.  With this funding, we can put back into programs to help our brothers and sisters out there.  As well as our other goals is to send our children to school, colleges.  The funding will also help with their scholarships.


This compact is going to help two counties.  It’s going to help Humboldt County, Madera County.  You don’t see two tribes working together that much.  You have two tribes that want to work together to help each community.  If I can put this another way, the Wiyot tribe has been waiting almost seven years for this compact.  We’ve been patient.  We’ve been standing still.  But it took three governments to work this out.  It took the state of California, North Fork, and the Wiyot tribe.  That’s three governments working together as one.  This will help the state as well.  This will help our communities as well.

I know you understand the environmental.  We have a huge support of environmental supporters in Humboldt County that support this and I will give you the list names in a while.  But Humboldt County is, like I say, the lost coast.  It’s beautiful country.  I wish I could invite all of you out there to see it.


Our children are learning their culture again.  They’re learning how to sing.  As I said, my young vice-chair here is one of our singers—over a hundred years—we were starting to sing traditional songs and brush dances with our community.  It’s teaching the younger kids how to do it as well.  He has taken it upon himself to show the younger kids how to do regalia, how to make the regalia back.  Our younger generation are really not concerned about gaming.  They want their culture back; they want their heritage back.  They want what they lost over 100 years ago back.  As Mr. Chesbro stated, the massacre took mostly every one of us.  There is only a few survivors left.  In each massacre, there was only a baby who survived the massacre.  So we all come from mostly the same families but different villages.


Gaming can help us, but our more concern is taking care of our environment, taking care of our lands, taking care of our elders, taking care of our youth.  This money will help us; this money will help us.  It will also help other tribes as well.  It will be put it into the ____ more money into, as well as the trust fund that the state has started to compel to put more money in for other tribes.  So we’re not the only tribes who are going to benefit from this.  Other smaller tribes that came out, do gaming on their lands, will get part of this funding.

So I’m asking you to please support this bill, AB 277, and let us help each other.  Let us help the state as well, other counties.  It’s going to provide lots of jobs, not just in Madera County but in Humboldt County.  This money will be—as you know, the logging issue of Humboldt County has ____, so our unemployment rate at Humboldt County is very high.  So it’s not just going to help our community as a native community but it will help the other community as well, and we’re working with Humboldt County as well to create jobs so that everybody at Humboldt County is employed.  If it’s doing studies on the river, it was doing more studies in the woods.  We will bring the county back.  We will make the counties stronger.

I said earlier, I had supports from most of these groups and I would like to name some of them off—the North Coast Environmental Center, Friends of the River, Humboldt Bay Keeper, Trees Foundation, Friend of the Van Duzen River, and more—as well as our county supervisors—they support this as well.

So I’m asking you, please take this into consideration and support AB 277.  I know there will be a lot of arguments, but this is going to help quite a few people.  Thank you.


MR. JOHN MAIER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Madam Chairwoman.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Committee Members.


The governor has presented two compacts to the legislature for ratification.  While the focus is and should remain on the compact’s terms and conditions—I’m sorry.  I’m John Maier.  I am Tribal counsel for the North Fork Rancheria.  Thank you.


Well, the focus is and should remain on the Compact’s terms and conditions and the interests served by them.  A furious lobbying effort has been launched for purposes of delay to shift the focus away from the compact and on policy concerns about off-reservation gaming acquisitions.  Although the concerns being raised in this effort have been repeated many times over the past nine years and responded to and they have been addressed in new federal policies and regulations developed with plenty of tribal input, the concerns persist and I have been asked to address each in turn.  But first, some background is instructive.


I’ve represented the tribe as its legal counsel since 1999.  In 2000, the tribe requested a compact from the state, but the state requested proof of Indian lands from the Bureau of Indian Affairs.  The BIA responded saying that the tribe did not exercise jurisdiction over the rancheria lands held in trust for individual tribal members; and therefore, it could not confirm that the tribe had Indian lands so the tribe did not get a compact. 

After considering every option, the tribe, in the responsible exercise of its governmental duties to its nearly 2,000 tribal citizens, eventually sought and acquired 305 acres of land in trust in Madera County for gaming purposes.  Now it took nine years, as you’ve heard, to acquire the land and it was acquired pursuant to laws on the books since 1934 and 1988.  The tribe was entirely transparent about its intentions and worked closely with local governments in the state throughout the process.


Nearly every tribe in the country has at one point relied on the 25 CFR Part 151 regulations that govern the fee-to-trust process and North Fork did the same.  The Part 151 regulations required the BIA to give greater scrutiny to the concerns of state and local government.  The further the proposed trust lands are from the tribe’s reservation or headquarters, they call these off‑reservation acquisitions and that’s where the terminology comes from.  It’s in the Part 151 regs.  Because the land would be taken into trust after 1988, the tribe also needed to qualify the land for gaming under one of the exceptions listed in Section 20 of the 1988 Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, or IGRA.  Because the tribe’s status, as a tribe, restored to federal recognition in the 1980s, it could have attempted to qualify the land under what’s called the Restored Lands Exception which is commonly used in California.  But at the time, in 2004, the state generally opposed the use of the Restored Lands Exception because it does not necessitate local consultation or allow the governor to weigh in on the decision.

Of course, these requirements of the two-part process normally cause tribes to run as far as possible from it.  For instance, the two off-reservation trust applications that were proposed and later rejected for sites in and near Richmond, California, were made under the Restored Lands Exception, not the two-part exception.  But North fork decided to pursue the two-part process because of the exceptional circumstances which were later cited by the governor in his concurrence, namely, very strong local support, a site that was located in its home county, that was reasonably close to its tribal headquarters, an historical connection to the land, the tribe’s lack of other development options, the large number of tribal citizens, and for other reasons.  Consequently, nine years later—two administrations, two governors, four Secretaries of the Interior, nine Assistant Secretaries later, and following an exhaustive environmental review, and two year-long policy reviews where everything was frozen, the federal government finally agreed to take the land and trust for gaming purposes and the governor concurred.


Now of particular interest to the legislature is the tribe’s historical connection to the land.  Based on extensive documentation that the tribe paid for and gathered, the Secretary determined that:  “The site is located within the reservations contemplated by the San Joaquin Valley treaties for the tribe’s predecessors.”  Those treaties were never ratified, and the reservation was never established.  Nevertheless, the Part 292 regulations, which were created with tribal input, provide that a tribe may confirm that is within—that it has a significant, historical connection to land where it is “within the boundaries of the tribe’s last reservation under a ratified or unratified treaty.”  Based upon this fact alone, I can conclude that the tribe is a significant, historical connection to the site.  The Secretary went on to say, The historical documentation presented by the tribe also demonstrates that it has established a continuance presence in the vicinity of the site through occupancy and subsistence activities over a period of time.

Despite the extraordinary and unique circumstances of North Fork, opponents continue to claim that the North Fork decision will open the floodgates to off-reservation tribal gaming.  What they failed to tell you is this, there are only ten two-part requests pending nationwide, many of which have been pending forever, including two in California.  Since the Obama Administration announced this off-reservation gaming policy in 2011, there have been no new two-part requests anywhere.  Zero is hardly a flood.


Finally, to the extent that any action could possibly open the floodgates to “off-reservation” gaming, it is not the approval of the compact.  Rather, it is the federal government’s adoption of the policy which determines in the first instance whether off-reservation land can be taken into trust for gaming.  Once the land is in trust, under federal law, the state has an absolute obligation to negotiate and “to conclude” a gaming compact.  At this point, there is no policy for the state legislature to set, with respect to off-reservation gaming.  It has already been set by the Department of the Interior, it’s consistent with IGRA, and in this case, has been approved by the governor.


Briefly, I just want to touch on two questions, two issues, that have come up.  One is about Proposition 1A.  I believe Mr. Appelsmith spoke to this.  But to just be sure, the Proposition 1A did not mention existing in the language.  You could not square—in fact, several tribes since Proposition 1A, which did not have lands, and indeed some that were not even federally recognized, have acquired lands for gaming purposes under the Restored Lands Exception.  Those include a couple of the opponents—Auburn and Paskenta.

The other thing is, is the idea of gaming, opening the floodgates and then gaming in urban areas.  The fact is that, as you, who live in urban areas, there’s just too many diverse political interests that exist in those areas for any kind of strong, local support to be demonstrated and there’s also strong, political powers and everything else.  It is highly, highly unlikely, and this state has generally made—the former governor had actually a policy not to allow gaming in urban areas, and I think Mr. Appelsmith in some of his testimony had said something similar.  There is unlikely to be any kind of gaming in urban areas, as is the primary fear of some of the tribes.  Thank you very much.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes, sir.


MR. CURTIS BERKEY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon to Members of the Committee.  My name is Curtis Berkey.  I’m the attorney for the Wiyot tribe, and I know you want to have time for questions in the hour that you’ve allotted for us so I will be brief. 


SENATOR WRIGHT:  The questions don’t count against you.


MR. BERKEY:  Oh, okay.  Thank you.


I’d like to make two points on behalf of the Wiyot tribe.


First of all, I’d like to set this, the Wiyot compact, in a broader legal and political context.  It’s true, it’s unprecedented in California for an Indian tribe to forego the right to engage in Class III gaming.  I think this the first time that’s occurred.  It’s not unprecedented, however, nationwide.  There are at least two other examples where a tribe has done so—one in Wisconsin and several tribes, actually, pueblos, actually, in New Mexico. 


I think what this illustrates is that the decision to forego Class III gaming is truly an exercise of the tribe’s sovereignty.  It’s really an act of self‑determination.  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, the federal law that governs this matter, gives the tribe the right do that.  The Wiyot tribe has exercised that right.  They enter into this voluntarily and willingly, knowing that they are giving up a right that federal law provides in exchange for the benefits that they receive and because of the important value placed on protecting the environment, as Chairman Hernandez has spelled out for you.  So that’s the first point.


The second point is, I think it would be helpful to think for a minute about the tribe’s options if this compact is not ratified by the legislature.  That would put the tribe in the kind of pre-compact status quo, which means that they would have the opportunity to pursue Class III gaming on their reservation which puts the tribe in a very difficult position because, as you’ve heard from the chairman, they place the highest value in protecting the environment.  On the other hand, they need to think about what they can do to develop their economy, consistent with protecting that environment.  So it makes a very difficult choice for the Wiyot tribe.  This compact is really the best solution that we can think of to both protect the environment and to provide benefits to the tribal members, the benefits that are desperately needed, as the chairman has spelled out.


My understanding, my perspective, on Prop. 1A, as a lawyer for the tribes, is that it authorizes gaming consistent with the values of the Indian tribe.  It’s true, it doesn’t mention the environment specifically.  But if a tribe, like the Wiyot tribe, places a high value on protecting the environment, it seems to me that a compact, combined with, which is tied to the North Fork Compact, which in fact protects the environment, promotes that value, it’s consistent with Prop. 1A.

Finally, the chairman mentioned a number of environmental organizations that support the Wiyot tribe in this matter.  There’s one that he neglected to mention.  I just wanted to make sure the record is clear on this.  The Humboldt Bay Harbor Recreation and Conservation District also supports the Wiyot Compact.


Thank you, and I’m available to answer your questions.  Thank you very much.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Sir.


MR. WILLIAM ROBERT FRANK, IV:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Fellow Communities, my name is William Robert Frank, IV.  I’m a tribal member; and like my uncle, Mr. Chairman said I am the vice-president of the Youth Council.  I’m also basically the guy that teaches culture and I love teaching it.  I love what I do.  I love the faces of the little youths, how much they enjoy it.  I started off by teaching just one youth; and now that I found more youth, I went through teaching one to teaching 20 and I’m really honored I get to basically teach what I’ve been taught.  Even though I am legally an adult now, I still consider myself as a youth until I actually become an adult.


What this will do, not only for my tribe, but it will help on bringing money and scholarships for the Wiyot youth to go to college and, who knows, maybe become councilmembers at the Wiyot tribe.  I know I plan on majoring in Native American studies.  So one day, when my uncle, my uncle’s time is done, I’ll become chairman and this will help with many things in our tribe—education.  Some of the people that are on the reservation will help with their needs financially, because not only is half of our people are unemployed but we have most of the people in our reservation is disabled.  Like I said, if this does get approved, not only will it help tribal members in the future but it will make a big impact for the Wiyot tribe and I’m glad that I get to be here to share my two cents; and thank you, Mr. Chairman, for having me.  Thank you, fellow communities.  And as the Wiyot would say, Chiwox (sp?), see you later.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


Madam Chair, you’ve got 25 minutes left.  How would you…


MR. JACK GRIBBON:  Mr. Chairman, Members, my name is Jack Gribbon.  I work with UNITE HERE, the Hotel and Casino Workers Union in California.  The North Fork tribe, in addition, and in particular, Senator Lieu’s question earlier about how the tribe got the land in trust for the purposes of gaming in California, the tribe was presented with an enormously arduous, expensive, difficult road to follow by the federal government and they did it because that was what was required of them, by the federal government.  So the tribe did not have an option here.  They had to do what the government told them was their only choice.


What they did have choices with, though, over ten years ago, this tribe agreed to organizing agreements for the purposes of the permanent workforce in the casino, and they will become part of an emerging standard, in particular, in Northern California, where workers in the tribal gaming industry can support their families.  They have full-time jobs.  They have healthcare that they can afford for themselves and their dependents.  It’s becoming the kind of a job that Prop. 5 and Prop. 1A promised to the citizens of California because tribes like North Fork, at a time when they were not involved in a controversy, extended their hand and said, we want this development to be good for all.


In respect to their long travel down the road that the federal government made them travel to get their land in trust, in respect for their ability to work with the local community, with the county, with local government, and in respect for their work with the labor movement in California, to create good family-sustaining jobs, it is our view that the California State Senate should approve this compact when it becomes before you.  Thank you.


MR. JOHN HUDSON:  Good afternoon, Members.  My name is John Hudson.  I’m the secretary of the Building and Construction Trades of the Valley.  Obviously, we want this built because of the jobs, but that’s not what I’m going to talk about at first.

For many years, I sit on the board for the Marjaree Mason Center for Domestic Violence in Fresno.  And as our unemployment rate rises, so does domestic violence in our community.  While domestic violence just went down 10 percent in the rest of the state, it’s went up 12 percent in our valley because we have no jobs and men lose their sense of self-worth.


Fresno County has been labeled Appalachia West by the Brooking Institute in Washington.  There are more food stamps in Tulare County than any place in West Virginia and there’s less doctors per thousand in Madera County than any place in Appalachia.  So we can talk about the nuances of the Compact and what the voters wanted and all those other things.  But to me, struggling families and domestic-violence issues, alcohol issues, methamphetamine issues, issues for us to address in a community with chronic double-digit unemployment that the rest of the state seems to not mind, when it’s our community, and we’re trying to help each other, it would seem to me a nay vote on this would be something against the valley.  I can’t tell you how long we’ve worked on it and how much support we have on the local community, but I would encourage each and every one of you to consider our economic conditions and how badly we need this.  Thank you.

MR. MAX RODRIGUEZ:  Hello and thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, for the opportunity to appear before you today.  I am Max Rodriguez, a lifetime resident of the city of Madera and district board supervisor of Madera County.


I’m here to express my support for this compact.  My district is primarily situated on the east side of the city of Madera and composed of approximately 88 percent Hispanic.  They and others support this compact because this project will bring jobs, business opportunities, economic investment for one of our poorest regions of the state and the nation.  For the last decade, the tribe has been a model of cooperation, working closely with the city and county of Madera and many other community organizations and labor groups.  They have designed a project that’s in the best interest of our region.


Our unemployment rates and poverty are historically high, almost 14 percent and higher, especially among our Hispanic community.  This project will bring nearly 5,000 jobs to our community in which 50 percent of those jobs are specifically earmarked for Madera County residents.  These jobs will offer wages and benefits three times higher than the current local, average income.  These jobs can make the difference in whether the family and the next generation and residents can pull themselves from poverty, up from poverty.


The tribe has voluntarily entered into agreements with Madera County, the city of Madera, Madera Irrigation District that will bring in nearly $100 million in funding for police, fire, and emergency services, infrastructure, education, housing, job training, economic development, and local charities.  Perhaps more importantly, the tribe project that has an opportunity presented local support.  This project had received nearly 6,000 endorsements by local citizens and sparked the formation of the Madera Business Coalition, a group of independent businesses and community leaders supporting the tribe project.

The North Fork Casino Project will bring an immediate and positive impact to Madera County.  I hope you will do all you can to see the project approved without further delay.  I respectfully urge you to support this compact.  Together, we can work together to bring jobs, economic development to the tribe, Madera County, and the state of California.  Thank you for your support.  Thank you.


MR. TOM WHEELER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman Wright and Members of the Senate Committee.  I’m Tom Wheeler and I am the Madera County supervisor for District 5, which includes North Fork and the North Fork Tribal Headquarters.  I’ve been a resident of Madera County for 50 years.


I’m here today to urge you to support the North Fork Rancheria Gaming Compact and allow this project to move forward.  Madera County suffers from high foreclosures, poverty, and an unemployment rate of 13.89 percent, well above the state’s 10.4 percent.  North Fork itself is over 20 percent unemployment since the mill in our community closed in 1993, which most of the tribal members worked there along with me.


We are in desperate need of this economic stimulus.  This project will create nearly 5,000 jobs during the construction, operation phases, and 1,500 permanent jobs.  There are clearly many counties and, like Madera County, desperate, in need of economic stimulus.  But a few—but few have a responsible project like this before them that will help so many of our residents, businesses, community, and public safety groups, plus the state.  The county’s MOU with the tribe offers generous financial concessions that will greatly benefit our community.  In fact, it’s probably one of the best compacts in the whole United States.  The tribe will contribute $100 million to the county over 20 years to fund our schools, our police, our fire, emergency services, and to mitigate impacts from the casino.  Furthermore, the North Fork Casino Project will benefit the tribal members by allowing the tribe to better meet housing, medical, and cultural needs of its members.  I grew up with the tribal members and their leaders, side by side, and I worked with them all my life.  I know difficult living conditions in which many of them grew up.  I have firsthand knowledge of the limited-land situation that has hamstrung this tribe in developing for its 2,000 members.

Finally, the project has undergone a decade of review by federal, state, and local officials. Tribal government gaming was approved for tribes in rural counties like this.  This tribe has followed every single rule and obligation.  They’ve earned our support and deserve yours as well.  Almost every casino in California has been supported by out-of-state developers.  So when they say this is one unique one, they’ve all had that.  That’s how they’ve all got developed.  They haven’t had the money to be able to develop their own casinos.


Again, I ask you to support AB 277, the North Fork Rancheria Gaming negotiated compact.  I look forward to the jobs and economic development of the project that it will bring to the tribal tribes—North Fork, Madera County, and the state.  Thank you very much.


MR. JOHN ANDERSON:  Good afternoon, Chairman Wright, Members of the Committee.  I want to thank you for taking the time to listen to us today on this important issue.

I’m John Anderson.  I’m the sheriff of Madera County, and you’ve heard about what the recession has done to our county and to the folks that live in it, and I’m told that construction of this casino will bring more than $5 million to the public safety departments and folks in our county.  As a department, we’ve also witnessed the recession and the cutbacks.  We’ve lost 17 deputy sheriff positions since 2007.  Now when you’re only starting out with 100 or so, that’s quite an impact on your resources.


The MOU that’s been signed with the tribe and presented by the governor, approved by the governor, mitigates the impact on public safety in our county.  It includes six additional officers from the Madera Police Department, five additional deputy sheriffs for the Madera County Sheriff’s Department, plus, we get the necessary patrol cars and equipment to go along with them, nine fire fighter positions, and a regional first-responder training center, all included with the casino deal.


You know, one of the concerns about Indian gaming and casinos has been the impact on crime.  And for the most part, that’s an incorrect belief.  Prior to my time as sheriff, I served as the commander of the Central Valley California Highway Patrol.  And during that time in that position, I had interaction with the Table Mountain Casino in Fresno, the Tachi Casino in Lemoore, Eagle Mountain Casino in Porterville, the Chicken Ranch Casino in Sonora, and, for the past nine years, I worked intimately with the Chukchansi Casino there in Madera County.  And in each of these, the impact of criminal activity was minimal, hardly noticeable.  It didn’t contribute at all to our need, increased need, for a response.

Since its opening, we’ve never had a serious, violent crime at Chukchansi Casino.  Believe it or not, petty theft is the most common crime there.  Women will sit down to play the slot machines, set their purse down, and someone steals it.  We get calls maybe two or three times a month for that.  But I’ve publicly testified many times that we respond more to our local hospital than we do to our casinos.


So as chief law enforcement officer in the county of Madera—and I can say from experience that this compact has been designed to have a tremendous, positive impact on public safety; and with that in mind, I would urge your support once it gets to the floor.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


MR. BOB JENNINGS:  Thank you, Chairman and Committee Members.  My name is Bob Jennings.  I’m the business manager for the Plumbers and Steamfitters Local 246.  I’m also the president of the Madera, Tulare, Kings, and Fresno Building Trades.  I’m also vice-president with California State Pipe Trades, and I’m also the president of Pipe Trade District Council 36.


There’s been a lot of numbers thrown around today—1,200 construction jobs, 1,400 permanent jobs, and 5,000 total jobs—but the one number that hasn’t been considered or talked about is the number of those families that are going to be affected.  When you consider that number, we’re approaching 20,000 belly buttons, and this in an area where I have members and my affiliates have members that have been out of work for more than two years.  So I respectfully ask and urge you, when you cast your vote on this bill, that you vote yes in favor of this bill and consider those 20,000 belly buttons.  That’s a lot of need.  Thank you.


MR. SCOTT WETCH:  Mr. Chairman and Members, Scott Wetch on behalf of the California State Association of Electrical Workers, the California State Pipe Trades Council, Western States Council of Sheet Metal Workers, the Elevator Constructors Union, and the California Coalition of Utility Employees.
You’ve heard a lot about the jobs’ impacts so I’m not going to repeat that, but I think one thing you’ve learned here today is you’ve learned about the graciousness and the politeness of the North Fork tribe.  So I’m going to put a few of the issues in, I think, a context that they were probably too polite to make, and that is, the fact that this tribe for ten years has done everything right and respectable.  They could have ignored the state government; they could have ignored local government.  They could have gone to the federal government, like several other tribes have done, to get land into trust; but they chose to go through a two-step process to incorporate the community in the state government in a collective with labor and community groups to come to a common agreement.

The argument, the fallacy, that this is somehow a camel’s nose under the tent or a slippery slope doesn’t hold water.  In the history of Indian gaming in the United States, only six instances has the federal government approved it through that process.  That’s simply misnomer.  The fact of the matter is, that what has rubbed folks the wrong way is that this group of people have chosen under their own sovereignty to negotiate the most generous compact to the state of California, ever.  They’ve chosen to give more to the mitigation fund for non-gaming tribes than anybody else.  They’ve agreed to give more to the community; they’ve agreed to give more to the state; they’ve agreed to give a local higher requirement in the city of Madera.  They’ve agreed to give a local higher agreement in the county that they reside in.  The have agreed to agreements with labor, and that insults a few—eight out of the 62 gaming tribes in the state of California are opposed to this, and they’re opposed to it because of the fact that this compact contains elements.  If you like it or not, the reason they’re opposed to it is because it contains elements that threaten them.  But if you agree with that, if you allow that to influence the decision on this compact, then you are infringing on the sovereignty of North Fork to come into those agreements—and we hear a lot about sovereignty in this committee—and I would suggest to you, that what the legislature needs to do is commend the North Fork for being partners with the state of California, encourage all the other tribes when their compacts come up for renegotiation, all 62 of them, including the eight that are opposed, to embrace the same elements that they’ve embraced and not punish them for being good Californians first so we urge an aye vote.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


MR. CESAR DIAZ:  Mr. Chair and Members, Cesar Diaz on behalf of the State Building and Construction Trades Council, a member organization of 400,000 construction workers, men and women, that build our infrastructure, respectfully urging your support of this, also for the reasons that Mr. Wetch just exemplified, but this is a very socially conscious packed.  It exemplifies the intent of Proposition 1A.  It brings economic development opportunities, cultural preservation, and path towards self-sufficiencies which is embodied in the intent of Proposition 1A, and it does it for the Wiyot and the Mono Tribes. 

AB 277 seeks to ratify work opportunities and as well as those opportunities stated in the proposition’s intent to over 5,000 people in one of the country’s most underserved areas where double-digit unemployment persists.  In the construction trades, that is much worse.  We’re looking at 25, 30 percent unemployment.  There are people that haven’t worked for over two years, but those that are working are underemployed.  And here we have a golden opportunity and it’s coming down the horizon to employ thousands of people and provide for themselves and their families, as well as provide apprenticeship opportunities for those young people that are exiting high school that are looking for a place to work in a career in the construction industry.  Those programs that open up opportunities for veterans that are returning back from overseas through veterans and piping, veterans in construction and electrical in the Helmets to Hardhats programs.


Members, that’s 1,200 jobs for the construction industry alone, and I’ll name off some of the people that don’t have employment opportunities because of the loss of redevelopment, because of other factors affecting the housing industry, but this project will employ carpet layers, painters, electricians, roofers, sheet-metal workers, plumbers, glaziers, elevator constructors, teamsters, ironworkers, laborers, carpenters, cement mason, and bricklayers.  This is what this project brings.  For those reasons, we urge your support.
MS. CAITLIN VEGA:  Mr. Chair and Members, Caitlin Vega for the California Labor Federation also here in strong support.


Many previous witnesses have said that the North Fork tribe has complied with all of the rules.  We would say, when it comes to workers’ rights, protecting workers, and creating economic opportunity for workers, they have gone above and beyond and really set a standard.  Early on, they reached out to unions as partners, not just in creating jobs but in creating jobs for their community, and in truly trying to build a pathway out of poverty.  They have voluntarily agreed to comply with California’s Workers’ Compensation and Unemployment Insurance System.  They have voluntarily agreed to ensure that state agencies and courts are able to enforce laws, to protect workers.  This really sets a model when it comes to looking at the treatment of workers and when it comes to truly trying to create jobs that do allow for economic self‑sufficiency and a pathway out of poverty for a community that desperately needs it.


In our view, the North Fork tribe has committed to embrace workers’ rights, to embrace economic opportunity, and to really look at how to be responsive to all community needs, to local hire, to PLA, to long-term permitted operations jobs, and to ensure that this is really something that uplifts the entire community and is a great thing for workers so we are here in strong support.  Thank you.


MR. GARY GILBERT:  Mr. Chairman, I’m Gary Gilbert.  I’m a former county supervisor for the county of Madera, two terms.  I was also a member of the California State Association of Counties for Native American Gaming Issues; I was a member of the National Association of Counties for their Public Lands Committee as it dealt with Native American issues; and I was also the lead negotiator for the county of Madera; and I negotiated the agreement with the Chukchansi tribe of Picayune Rancheria in 2002; I also did the North Fork Mono of the North Fork Rancheria in 2006.

There’s a couple of issues I’m going to address here quickly for you.  But first off, this project has very strong community and local elected official support.  This is true for a number of reasons, but the process that we used in the county of Madera, we used a process that is guiding the California State Association of Counties.  We followed the National Association of Counties’ policies as it relates to land use and acquisition of land or the trust application. And this 305 acres mitigates and addresses all the environmental consequences of that fee-to-trust transfer.  That’s why the county of Madera, city of Madera, and Madera Irrigation District have entered into legally binding and enforceable agreements with North Fork Rancheria.


One of the concerns raised is a lack of public information or public hearings.  Just a recap:  August 2004, the Board of Supervisors held two public hearings and voted 5:0 to approve the MOU.  On May 5th, city of Chowchilla voted 5:0 to support the project.  They subsequently withdrew that and went neutral pending the fee-to-trust process which has now been completed.  August 2005, three additional public hearings at the county level.  At the fourth—third—hearing, the county voted 4:1 to approve the project location and that was consistent with all fundamental responsibilities with the Board of Supervisors as it relates to land-use decisions that the Board of Supervisors are charged for.

There was an additional public hearing in the spring by BIA.  There was one conducted in our board chambers by this committee, the G.O. Committee, by Senator Florez, and one of the questions he asked was an advisory vote question and I’ll address that in just a moment.  We also had another public hearing for the city of Madera, 2006.  They voted 5:0 to approve the MOU.  In December 2006, the Irrigation District approved MOU.  October of ’07, Supervisor, then Bigelow, testified in front of the U.S. Senate Committee on Indian Affairs in support of the project.  December 2007, all of our major business chambers have supported this project.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Let me—you know what?  I need to ask you to wrap up.  We’ve just completed the hour of testimony.  I mean, you were in the middle of a sentence so go ahead and finish where you were.


MR. GILBERT:  So in closing, what I’m going to say is, going back to Senator Florez’s question, land use and advisory vote, the county Board of Supervisors and our Land Use Authority have approved a number of projects without Advisory votes, not like Children’s Hospital, community colleges, Rio Mesa Project that brings 100,000 people into the county. They’ve just approved a repair facility for high-speed rail, all of these without Advisory votes.  Board of  Supervisors who are elected to make land-use decisions and that’s what they did in this project.  They approved this project based upon approved land-use decisions.  Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


Sir, if you would identify yourself and where you’re from.


MR. HERMAN PEREZ:  Good afternoon, Chairman Wright, Esteemed Members.  I’m Herman Perez, former mayor and city councilman in the city of Madera, also representing former mayor and city councilman, Steve Mindt, who helped negotiate the agreement with the City Council of Madera with the governor.


I’m here to talk about a business coalition that we had started in Madera eight…


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Time out.  We’re out of time so I’m going to guess you’re in support but that’s all the time we have.


MR. PEREZ:  I am so big in support…


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.


MR. PEREZ:  …for the eight years, sir.  I am—yes.  (Laughter)


SENATOR WRIGHT:  I appreciate that, but let me ask if there are questions from the committee.


Okay.  Senator Berryhill.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Yes.  Thank you, been very informative.


I have a couple of questions.  If the first panel could come up here to be able to answer these, I think it would be a good thing.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Just to check, that would conclude the presentation.  There weren’t any other persons who wanted to just speak in name only?  So we’ll go to questions; is that okay?  Okay.


Senator Berryhill.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Okay.  It was mentioned that there are no other two-part applications pending right now; is that correct?


MR. MAIER:  No.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Oh, there’s two pending right now?

MR. MAIER:  There are two California and there are eight nationwide, eight others nationwide, for a total of ten pending nationwide.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  How long have they been pending?


MR. MAIER:  As Mr. Appelsmith testified, the one for Barstow, Los Coyotes tribe, was initially applied for in 2003.  There was a—the commutability test was enacted in 2007 or ’08, and they withdrew their application.  It was renewed, and then eventually it’s been renewed.  So I think the second EIS was in 2008 or something so it’s been a long time.  Manzanita has been in the process for a long time as well.

SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Do you anticipate, if this compact goes through, there’s going to be a flood of other ones going through?


MR. MAIER:  No, I don’t.

SENATOR BERRYHILL:  In your opinion?


MR. MAIER:  In my opinion.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Okay.

MR. MAIER:  My professional opinion, actually.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Well, because, you know, we’ve had both sides, of course, come into all of our offices and there’s plenty of concern on the other side.  With the new federal policies, with the Obama Administration, there’s just going to be—they’re going to open the floodgates and that we’re going to end up with this hopscotch and up and down the valley floors.  I’d like to know your opinion, if you think that’s going to happen on policy, recognizing new tribes.


MR. MAIER:  No, I don’t think so because, you know, in the Bush Administration, they implemented what was called the commutability test which was the idea that you couldn’t go to a site that was further than the distance that your tribal members could commute from, either the existing reservation or the tribe’s headquarters.  That commutability notion was implemented in the 292 regulations that were implemented by the Bush Administration in 2008 and so those are part of the law.


Now the Obama Administration withdrew the “commutability test” because the basis on which it was, the rationale that was founded, was actually very patronizing and insulting to a lot of tribal people.  But in essence, it remains.  The Obama Administration has not set a distance requirement because it can’t, because the statute doesn’t create one, and it would be arbitrary and capricious for them to do so.  But in essence, you can’t go very far from the reservation.  The same day that North Fork was and the enterprise applications were approved, a New Mexico’s tribe application was denied.  They were trying to go about 293 miles from their existing reservation in New Mexico.  So you’re not going to see, you know, huge difference and you also, with the historical ties, which is being paid much more attention to than earlier, it would be very difficult for tribes to do that.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Would you argue that the policies have actually tightened, these policies, or…


MR. MAIER:  Absolutely.  In 2004, there were really no policies, at 2003-2004, so you had a flood of—tribal gaming was still fairly young.  It was doing very well.  You had a lot of new applications.  And then in 2006, Congress tried to change IGRA.  That effort failed but it sent a pretty strong signal, and then the Bush Administration put in the commutability test.  They got rid of most of the existing applications.  The Obama Administration modified that test, as I talked about; but in essence, most of those—and some were renewed—but in essence, the approval rates—the only difference in the Obama Administration and the Bush Administration is that there have been actual decisions made in the last, more recently.  In the Bush Administration, a lot of those were just frozen, period.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  You understand that your opposition is probably going to have a little bit different opinion than this.


MR. MAIER:  I fully understand but there’s really no basis.  I mean, you look at the facts; you look at the existing applications.  What happens is, there’s a lot of conflation between the two part and the restored lands, and then there’s also an initial reservation exceptions under Section 20.  They conflate those when it’s useful and ignore them when it’s not.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Yet I’m curious—you mentioned, that one way or another, you’re going to have gaming, either Class III or Class II, in your facility.  Can you expand a little bit what it means to the community, the difference between Class III and Class II, as far as monetary…


MR. MAIER:  Yeah, it would be very disappointing for that to happen, frankly, because, you know, the tribe has done, tried do, everything right as it has a very strong relationship with the community.  But the tribe can conduct Class II gaming if it doesn’t get—you know, it prefers to do a Class III gaming but it could do a Class II gaming facility.  It also can seek procedures from the secretary.  If you recall, the Rincon, the Rincon tribe sued the Secretary and the state—sued the state.  They were able to get a favorable 9th Circuit decision.  Eventually, the Secretary has issued regulations that don’t necessarily provide all the protections that—some of the protections but not all the protections—that you would get in a compact, particularly the revenue-sharing provisions that are in this one that provide significant revenues to non-gaming tribes, to help backfill the hole that exists in the state budget for that, and also, of course, the promise that has been in effect since 2004 to the Wiyot tribe to share a portion of its revenues.  So it would be a tragic thing if the compact wasn’t ratified.

SENATOR BERRYHILL:  But if you have the difference for the community of the Class III licenses to make a difference, does it not?


MR. MAIER:  It makes a difference and, frankly, you know, the mitigation agreements would be really up in the air if the compacts are not ratified.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  I see, what—and this is my last question, Mr. Chairman—thanks for your time.

What does, in your compact and your sharing throughout the community, how does that compare with current compacts that are out there?  I mean, is it based on kind of the same deal or what?


MR. MAIER:  I think since 2004, it’s fair to say that—with the exception of some of the amended compacts, new compacts that are being approved by the legislature pretty much require local mitigation agreements to be in place.  But the 1999 compacts that were put in place and some of the amended ones had no, virtually no mitigation.  This provides, as this has been discussed, about $5 million to the city and county of Madera—some to the Madera Irrigation District to correct some of the drawdown of water and a provision to enter into agreement with Caltrans for improvements to Avenue 17.  So this is, in terms of modern compacts, it’s very comparable to what other tribes have been doing, but there are a relatively small handful of them.


SENATOR BERRYHILL:  Well, thank you.


Mr. Chairman, it’s all yours.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Senator Lieu.


SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you.


I have two questions.  But first, let me say I have greatest respect for the two tribes of these compacts.  You’ve done everything the federal government has asked you to do.  I wish all compacts look like this with card-check  neutrality and project labor agreements.  I hope they will in the future.  But I keep coming back to Proposition1A and it’s because it doesn’t really matter what the federal law says if Prop. 1A was never passed because California Constitution bans Class III gaming.  And then a vote is put in, in exception to it, with 1A.  And so the question I’m trying to decipher is, What do they intend with that 1A vote and did they intend to capture this situation?  And if anything you can tell me that would help, help me with that, that would be appreciated.

MR. MACARRO:  Yeah, it’s a fair question and I think I alluded earlier that sometimes the restored lands and two-part processes under Section 20 of IGRA get conflated and confused, but there are tribes already who, when Prop. 1A was passed, did not have existing lands, were able either through congressional legislation or—and through restored-lands exceptions—to acquire lands and make those lands eligible for gaming. 


There’s an example right here in Sacramento, the Auburn tribe, didn’t have lands in trust in 2000 when Prop. 1A was passed.  Now they had every right to acquire lands where they did, and good for them, but they didn’t have that and so the voters, you know, this idea of existing tribal lands, it’s fine to say that if you are a tribe that—I mean, most tribes had really horrible locations, okay?  For instance, in the L.A. Basin, as we all knew, it grew rapidly and the populations have moved closer and closer to some tribes.  Those tribes are very fortunate and I’m very happy that they’ve had successful facilities and that their members are doing well and they’re doing good things with those monies.  Other tribes weren’t so lucky.

Now here you’ve got a tribe, North Fork tribe, with 1,900 members, almost 2,000.  They have a responsibility to their people, and there is existing law that allows them to do this.  It’s not, there is nothing unusual.  The unusual thing about this whole situation, Senator, is that tribes opposing other tribes for taking, for using federal law that was created to benefit Indians and fighting them for using it, that is what really is quite distressing.  So we can argue about Proposition 1A, what it meant and wasn’t.  I was involved in it too and, you know, it was about equity injustice.  You know, Indians have been screwed for a long time in California and elsewhere.  Their lands were taken; the Senate never ratified the treaties that were set aside, set aside a tenth of California, 10 million acres for them in 1851, because the California legislature lobbied the Senate—the U.S. Senate—to prevent those treaties from being ratified, okay?



They’ve had a very tough time.  They were the only—this is the only place in the country they were basically rendered landless because there was also an act that took away any land claims that they could make, so they have no aboriginal rights either.  So when the government started purchasing these tiny plots, 80 acres, in 1916 for the North Fork tribe and other rancherias around the area, those were not—I mean, God bless them for doing something—but that’s not just their average land, and the idea that this is just the aboriginal rights is not right.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  I think you got that answered.

MR. MAIER:  Okay.


SENATOR LIEU:  May I ask my second question?


MR. MAIER:  I apologize.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  That’s okay.


SENATOR LIEU:  And, by the way, when the opposition comes up, it’ll be helpful if they can tell me what makes these compacts different from the ones that the legislature has previously approved that actually did ratify compacts that went through a two-step process.


MR. MAIER:  For Mohave…


SENATOR LIEU:  Essentially for Mojave Indian tribe compact, 2006.


All right.  So my question is, I’m reading this letter from Senator Feinstein dated August 9, 2012, and she writes, The Department of the Interior’s conclusion their proposed casinos enjoy strong community support is simply false.  And then she cites two things.  She says, The Yuba County voters rejected a casino at the proposed site in 2005.  And a recent poll by J Moore Methods found that 67 percent of Madera County voters opposed the North Fork Rancheria Casino.

What are we supposed to make of this letter and can you tell me more about the poll?

MR. MAIER:  Well, I’ll respond to the North Fork situation right now because that’s what’s before the Senate Committee.  The Schwarzenegger Compact that was signed in 2008 had a telephone survey, a scientific telephone survey, that the tribe conducted in ’06, because we negotiated that compact for a long time.  The results were something like 55 to 57 percent in favor on just a single black-and-white question, no lead-in questions, nothing else.  We did the same poll in 2011 or 2012 with the simple black-and-white questions.  Then we did some follow-up, but the simple black and white was something like 57, 58 percent…

SENATOR LIEU:  Support.


MR. MAIER:  …in support.  So there has been—you know, some were strongly support, some were somewhat support; but the total of those was about that.  So they’re historically been very strong support but polls can be read in many different ways.  It depends on your sampling size. These were 600.  They were conducted by Fairbanks, Maslin, a good company, so they’re pretty solid results.


SENATOR LIEU:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MAIER:  Thank you.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Any other questions from the committee?

Okay.  Let me thank you, Madam Chairwoman and attorneys and the Tribal Council leaders for your presentation.  We’re going to move now into the presentation of—again, I understand there are some people who want to identify themselves as support of the—okay.  You know what?  We’ll take some.  I don’t want to just prolong the whole day.  But those people, if you would line up right here and just take the podium and stand up as identifying in support.

MS. BETHEL-FINK:  Chairman, we have, our tribal citizens, have come up on buses and they’d like to leave.  So, as you said, this is your hearing.
SENATOR WRIGHT:  Right.

MS. BETHEL-FINK:  A few of them can come up and say that they support.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.
MR. PATRICK BEIHN:  Patrick Beihn, Tribal Council, North Fork Rancheria, and I fully support this AB 277.  Thank you for your time.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


MS. DEBI BRAY:  Debi Bray, CEO, Madera Chamber of Commerce, representing over 500 businesses strong, and we have supported and endorsed this project from Day 1.  We urge your support.  Thank you.


MR. KIRK ATAMIAN:  Kirk Atamian, small business owner and former 
Chairman of the Board of Madera Chamber of Commerce.  As small business owners, we also support this.


MR. BRUCE GILMORE:  I’m Bruce Gilmore, tribal member.  I’m a member of the local 294 and I support this.

MS. BONNIE HALE:  My name is Bonnie Hale and I’m a Tribal Council member on the North Fork Rancheria, also a member, and I strongly support this project.


MS. KATRINA GUTIERREZ:  Katrina Gutierrez, North Fork Rancheria, Tribal Council secretary, and I support this compact.

MR. JEFF ROBERTS:  I’m Jeff Roberts.  I’m a business representative for District Council 16, Local Union 294, International Union of Painters and Allied Trades.  I’m the vice-president of the Fresno-Madera-Tulare-Kings Building Trades, and I am a native of Madera County and we support this project.


MS. MARYANN McGOVRAN:  Ms. Maryann McGovran, vice-chair for North Fork Rancheria of Mono Indians and, of course, I support this compact and the Wiyot Compact and I appreciate your time and consideration today.


MR. PAUL IRWIN:  Hello, my name is Paul Irwin.  I’m a North Fork Rancheria tribal citizen and employee and I support this compact.


MR. BOBBY HALE:  Yeah, my name is Bobby Hale and a North Fork Rancheria citizen and election board and board commissioner.  Thank you.  We support this heavily.


MR. L.D. GALPIN (sp?):  L.D. Galpin, a resident of Madera County.  I support this before you.  Thank you.


MS. SILVIA PANNELLO (sp?):  Hi.  My name is Silvia Pannello.  I’m from Fresno, California, and I support both compacts.  Thank you.


MS. LORRAINE PATINO (sp?):  Lorraine Patino of North Fork Rancheria, a tribal citizen.  I support both compacts.


MS. VICTORIA GARCIA:  I’m Victoria Garcia and I’m a tribal citizen and I support this.


MS. MELISSA GARCIA:  I’m Melissa Garcia.  I’m from Clovis, California, and I stand by North Fork Rancheria and their casino project.


MS. JULIE GREGSON (sp?):  I am Julie Gregson.  I’m a Madera County resident and registered voter.  I support this compact.


MS. BARBARA WORKS (sp?):  Barbara Works, North Fork tribal citizen and former Tribal Council member.


MS. WAY ETNER (sp?):  I’m Way Etner, tribal citizen of North Fork and I support the compact.


MS. JUANITA WILLIAMS:  Juanita Williams, North Fork Rancheria tribal citizen.  I support the contract.

MS. GLORIA BROWN:  Hi.  Gloria Brown, president of Madera NAACP 1084 and also representing the Fresno Metro Black Chamber of Commerce of 110 members.  Thank you.  We support the project.
MS. BERNICE POKENHORN (sp?):  Bernice Pokenhorn, North Fork resident, also an employee for the housing, Indian Housing Department, and I too support both compacts.

MS. ALLIE RIDGE (sp?):  Allie Ridge, past president of the Golden Valley Chamber of Commerce, Madera Ranchos, and we fully support.

MS. VIRGINIA BIG (sp?):  Virginia Big from the Golden Valley Chamber of Commerce and Madera Ranchos and I support this compact.

MS. TIARA McGOVRAN/McGOVERN (sp?):  My name is Tiara McGovran. I’m a tribal citizen and I support this project.

Mr. GODY McGOVRAN/McGOVERN (sp):  Gody McGovran, a tribal citizen, and I support this compact.
MR. ARTHUR SALAZAR:  And I’m Arthur Salazar, president of the Chor ?? Sector Steelworkers Organization for Active Retirees and I’m a Madera resident, and I support—most all of my members—support the compact.  Thank you.

MR. JOE CORREA:  I’m Joe Correa, retired United Steelworkers of America, former president of Local 9440, Madera County, and I support this AB 277.  Thank you.

MS. SANDRA SHERMAN:  Hi.  My name is Sandra Sherman and I also, as a member of the Mono North Fork Rancheria tribe, and I do support the compact.  Thank you.

MS. CAT POMONA (sp?):  My name is Cat Pomona and I support the compact.
MS. DIANA DICK:  I’m Diana Dick I and work for the North Fork Rancheria Tribal TANF and I support this compact.  Thank you.

MR. ARTHUR RAMOS:  My name’s Arthur Ramos, retired steelworker; and also speaking from behalf of the Steelworkers Union, and they support, just like I do, this project.

MR. MATTHEW MENCHACA:  My name is Matthew Menchaca.  I’m a citizen of North Fork, and I support both compacts for the Wiyots and North Fork.

MS. CHRISTIE CLARK (sp?):  Christie Clark, North Fork Mono and I support this compact.

MS. TRISTAN GROHOLONG (sp?):  I’m Tristan Groholong, North Fork Mono.  I support this compact.

MR. ______ ______:  ______ _______, Madera, California.  I support both compacts.

MS. JOAN CLARK (sp?):  Hello, I’m Joan Clark, North Fork Rancheria, and I support this compact.

MS. CATHY TONY (sp?):  Hello.  My name is Cathy Tony.  I’m a North Fork Rancheria member and I do support this compact.  Thank you.

MS. NETTIE AMEY:  My name is Nettie Amey and I am a member of Fairmead Community and Friends representing 1,641 residents and we strongly support this project, and I am a member of—the very district is a member of the—what is it?—District 2—and they don’t care about—okay.  There you go.

MR. ALAN (sp?) ROBERTSON:  Hi. My name is Alan Robertson and I’m a citizen of Madera, California, and I strongly support this compact.
MS. CORRINE BECTRAM (sp?):  My name is Corrine Bectram. I’m retired.  I’ve been a citizen and a native of the North Fork Rancheria for almost 65 years and I support this compact.  Thank you.

MR. FRANK BERNARD:  My name is Frank Bernard, North Fork Rancheria citizen and I’m also a retired undersheriff of Madera County and I support the compact for both tribes.

MS. PATRICIA BERNARD:  And I’m Patricia Bernard and I am also a citizen of the North Fork Rancheria and I support both of these compacts.  Thank you.
MS. CRYSTAL GONZALEZ (sp?):  I, Crystal Gonzalez, support this compact.

MR. _____ _____:  My name is ____ ____.  I’m a Mono Indian and I support both compacts.

MR. SHANE SALAZAR:  Shane Salazar, Native American.  I support the compacts.

MS. VERONICA DAVIS:  Hi.  I’m Veronica Davis.  I’m a North Fork tribal member and I support both compacts.

MS. HEATHER RIOS:  My name is Heather Rios.  I’m a North Fork citizen and I support the Wiyot tribe and the North Fork tribe also.  Thank you.

MS. JAMIE BEIHN:  Hello.  I’m Jamie Beihn.  I am a North Fork Rancheria tribal citizen and I’m also the North Fork Rancheria Tribal TANF director.  I support both of the compacts.  Thank you.


MR. REGGIE DAVIS:  Hi.  Reggie Davis, tribal member, and I support both compacts.  Thank you.


MR. MARCUS HAMMOND:  Hello.  I’m Marcus Hammond.  I’m a tribal member and I support this compact.


MS. ALLIE NORENA (sp?):  I’m Allie Norena.  I live in Fresno.  I’m a North Fork citizen and I support this compact.


MR. MARK VALEZ (sp?):  My name is Mark Valez and I ___ this compact.


MS. THERESA/TERESA (sp?) RAMIREZ:  My name is Theresa Ramirez.  I’m from Fresno, California.  I support North Fork Compact.


MS. LEORA LOU BEIHN:  Hi.  My name is Leora Lou Beihn.  I’m a North Fork Rancheria tribal citizen.  I sit on the Environmental Department Committee and I’m also the senior culture monitor for the tribe.  I support this project and I also support the Wiyot tribe.


MS. GALIN (sp?) REESE (sp?):  Hi.  My name is Galin Reese and I’m for this casino.  I’m a tribal member of the North Fork Rancheria and thank you for listening and we’re for it.  Thank you.

MS. LAVERNE MARTINEZ:  Hi.  I’m Laverne Martinez, North Fork tribal citizen, and I support both compacts.  Thank you.

MR. DILLON/DYLAN (sp?) FINK:  My name is Dillon Fink.  I support North Fork Tribal Compact and that is all.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  I know that we’ve got people that have opposition.  I’m going to ask them if they would come forward.  We’re going to begin this portion, the timed portion, of the opposition.


Sergeant, if I could—the two cups here, if you would take those two away.

(Inaudible Comments)


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Just a second.


Okay.  Now what we’re going to do here is, you’ll have an hour and I’m hoping that you guys have talked a little bit about how you use the hour.  And then, if there are questions that follow from the committee that’s not charged against the hour and if there are persons who wish to speak after the hour, as you saw in the other group, then we will listen to all other persons who want to give their name and their opposition.  But how you use the hour is up to you; and when the first person begins to speak, then we’ll crank it up, but it’s your hour to use as you will.


Everybody, if you would, when you begin to speak, if you would simply identify yourself for the record.


MS. HAZEL LONGMIRE:  Good afternoon, Chairman Wright and Members of the Committee.  My name is Hazel Longmire and I’m from the Colusa Indian Community.  I represent the Cachil Dehe Band of Wintun Indians.

I’m here to make it clear that we don’t oppose this bill out of a desire to deprive the North Fork Rancheria or any other tribe from the benefits of tribal gaming.  If North Fork were seeking approval of a compact to conduct Class III gaming on or close to its Rancheria as it existed before termination, we would support such a bill.  We oppose AB 277 precisely because its approval will open the floodgate to many more applications that destroy the intent of IGRA and violates the wishes of the California people and will no doubt irreparably harm the tribes that have played by the rules.


I’ve heard earlier a speaker say there are no floodgates; there’s no one waiting.  But I, as a member of the Colusa Indian Community, I know that is wrong.  So I will probably be back here.  I wish it wasn’t true, but most likely I will be back here speaking again.  So we also oppose AB 277 because the state of California should not be deciding which tribe or tribes will be granted a competitive advantage over other tribes with equally strong claims to ancestral lands and economic justice.

Finally, we oppose AB 277 because its approval will create a precedent that threatens to destroy much of the progress that our tribe has made over the past 30 years.   Thank you.

MS. LEANNE WALKER-GRANT:  I’ll bring it up close.

Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and Members.  I am Leanne Walker‑Grant, the tribal chair person of Table Mountain Rancheria which is located in the foothills of Fresno County.  Table Mountain Rancheria remains committed to what the people of California enacted with Proposition 1A.  They promised that tribal casinos would be built on a tribe’s original reservation or rancheria.
Indeed, I support the statements made by my fellow tribal chairs in opposition to the ratification of North Fork’s compact.  Because that compact is contrary to what the people voted for when they supported Proposition 1A.  My message to you today is simple.  If this legislative body decides to expand, the spirit of Proposition 1A, to permit tribes who are able to acquire and place off‑reservation land into trust for gaming purposes under federal law, then this legislative body is creating a precedence that must be equally applied to all tribes.

If the California legislature should choose to expand the spirit of Proposition 1A to allow for off-reservation casinos on gaming-eligible trust land acquired under federal law, regardless of the distance of the off-reservation acquisition to a tribe’s original rancheria, then California’s legislature must ratify all compacts that are negotiated by federally recognized tribes who are able to acquire off-reservation gaming-eligible land, whether or not those proposed casinos are in San Francisco, Los Angeles, Sacramento, Modesto, or San Diego.


Table Mount Rancheria supports all federally recognized tribes’ right to gain on their original restored land.  However, if the legislature will be expanding the spirit of Proposition 1A to allow for Class III gaming on any legally acquired gaming eligible trust land under federal law, regardless of its distance to the tribe’s original restored Rancheria or reservation, then each federally recognized tribe must be given the same opportunity.  The rules should be the same for all the tribes.

Table Mountain Rancheria, as well as several other federally recognized tribes, have already been contacted by outside investors.  In fact, there are those who want to help Table Mountain acquire gaming-eligible trust land along Interstate 5 and Highway 152 which Table Mountain Rancheria has historic ties to and which would be a location that would indeed be more profitable for Table Mountain Rancheria.  If Table Mountain Rancheria or any of the other 111 federally recognized tribes are successful in acquiring off‑reservation gaming eligible trust land, then the California legislature should ratify any compact signed by this governor or any future governor, regardless of the casino’s location.
In closing, I urge this legislature to exercise its legislative power to reject the North Fork Compact.  If the legislature chooses not to, then the state will be faced with dozens more of off-reservation compact requests which voters undermine—which will undermine the fundamental promise made to the voters of California since this legislative body has an obligation to treat all tribes equally.  On behalf of the people of Table Mountain Rancheria, thank you.
MR. GARY ARCHULETA:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, my name is Gary Archuleta.  I’m the tribal chairman for Mooretown Rancheria in Butte County.  I’m here today to oppose the North Fork Compact for the same reasons that I am opposing the Enterprise Rancheria Compact which is your next off-reservation casino compact.  If you say yes to North Fork, how are you going to say no to Enterprise?  The people pushing for North Fork, they all say it’s about social justice, but what it really is about is the abuse or manipulation of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.  It is about a lot of social injustice for Indians who have been operating their business ventures on land that is legitimately and aboriginally theirs in accordance with the law as they were written.

If you allow the Enterprise Compact to go forward, our modest casino will lose 60 percent of its revenue because, just like North Folk, you’ve allowed a casino to be placed between us and a customer base.  I mean, why would people drive past a new casino on a freeway to get to ours which is in a rural area in Butte County?

When I say the projections I present are devastating, I do not overstate that situation.  Gaming revenues have been in steady decline in recent years.  With the introduction of the proposed Enterprise Casino in Yuba County, a further 60 percent reduction is expected.   This will have a devastating impact upon the Mooretown Rancheria tribal operations.  Some of the examples of what happened if California’s policy to approve off-reservation casinos come to fruition, I will see the elimination of our health/welfare/burial program, which assists approximately 250 members a year.  The members will no longer receive help with doctors, medical prescriptions, glasses, dental care, and will no longer have the ability to bury their loved ones, that we provide those services.  Construction maintenance of our buildings and infrastructure would cease.  Funds from these come from the casino.  Their functions and wages will be gone.
Through our higher education programs, we fund between 30 to 40 full‑time college or vocational students.  Basically it’s going to impact all of our programs, eliminating police, fire that we contribute through our compacts.  Also, basically the impacts on Mooretown Rancheria, in brief, would be this:  health, welfare—gone; higher education, vocational training—gone; maintenance of rancheria—gone; K-12 funding—gone; community donations—gone; economic development—gone; reduced purchase of goods through the community, $1.6 million—gone; reduced salary and wages, $4.4 million—they’re gone.


So even though this is mainly concerning Enterprise, one leads to the other, so that’s why we’re in opposition.

MR. JOHN WILLIAMS:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and Members.  My name is John Williams.  I’m vice-chairman of the United Auburn Indian Community.

I’m here to oppose AB 277.  The United Auburn Indian Community has never opposed a compact for a tribal casino in the market area of our own casino.  We do not oppose other tribal casinos for competitive reasons, but we are opposing the North Fork Compact for the same reason that we will oppose compacts for the Enterprise Rancheria.  This is the next off-reservation casino compact that you’ll see.  Both tribes already have the land that is eligible for a casino.  Both want to move many miles from their existing reservations to land that is near urban areas, next to a freeway off ramp.  Most of their business will be cannibalized by nearby tribal casinos, from nearby tribal casinos.  In the case of the Enterprise Rancheria, they want to claim sovereign territory within the land of my tribe’s ancestors.  This is where my ancestors lived and are buried.  This not their homeland; it is ours.

If you approve this compact, you will make a fundamental change in the California policy.  You’ll be saying that any tribe can have a casino in any location it wants, maybe in cities in your own senate district.  This new policy will bankrupt the card rooms; it will bankrupt the tribes that have played by the rules and build on their existing trust lands.

I have Cathy Christian who represents the Auburn Rancheria here with me today to answer any questions regarding the United Auburn Indian Community.  Thank you.

MS. CATHY CHRISTIAN:  Mr. Chair, thank you.  I really only intend to answer questions but I did want to clear up one point.

I think there’s some confusion about existing lands in Prop. 1A and the various ways under federal law that tribes acquire land.  There was, in particular, a misstatement made about the United Auburn Indian Community which was recognized by Congress in 1994 long before Prop. 1A was passed and was a landless tribe, as are any number of other tribes in California.  The fact that you acquired land if you were landless does not violate the spirit of Proposition 1A.  If you acquire more land when you had land at the time Prop. 1A was passed, you are now talking about the very thing that was addressed in the ballot arguments to the voters in Proposition 1A so I wanted to make that clear.  It’s a very different process for landless tribes because of the history of tribes in California than it is for tribes with land as the North Fork Rancheria is one with land.  And other than that, I’m just here to answer questions.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Well, let me say again, you’ve got more time.  So if there are other speakers…

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Why don’t we have the other panels come forward.  And then if it’s okay with the committee, we’ll do questions at the end.


Okay.  As this panel’s coming forward, so you’ll know, we’ve paused the clock so the transition time isn’t charged against you.


MR. JERRY BROWN:  Is this on?


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes, sir.


MR. BROWN:  Yeah, it’s on.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.


MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Committee.  I’m Jerry Brown, chairman of the Chowchilla tribe of Yokuts.

Here we are again at discussing something that never should be in front of you.  The North Fork Mono Rancheria is in North Fork, California, where they have land and where they live.  The people of California voted, no off-res for Rancheria gaming.  The other tribes have abided by this ruling and are successful.


I’ve been watching all the untruths that have been put forth by the North Fork Monos.  It seems to me that they have followed the Chowchilla history and claimed it as theirs.  All the historians, archeologists, Spanish, Mexicans, early settlers, and maps all show that Chowchilla Yokuts being on the valley floor, right in the area that they’re wanting to put the huge casino on the ground of our forefathers and our mothers who were killed and pushed off by the settlers and government.

To make a fair judgment call, you all need to study the true history of the area and you will see that many untruths have been put forth in the name of breed and early—easy profit through gaming.  Big money is back in this endeavor so they can put more money in their pockets at the expense of other groups that have followed the law and do the gaming on their lands.  Thank you.

MR. MORRIS REID:  Good afternoon.  Thank you for allowing us to come forward before you.

My name is Morris Reid.  I am the tribal chairman of Picayune Rancheria.  We’ve been at this battle for a long time.  The fact is that we’re not against gaming for any tribe.  The fact is that we do follow regulation to rules, especially by the voters of California, and I ask that—I tell you that—because of fact 1A; 1A was put forward for tribal gaming on tribal lands.  There’s been questions about tribal lands.  And even in the Part II that has been—North Fork has participated in—and the thing about Part II, they keep saying that it’s a strong law.  Only two tribes have ever come through this way.

Well, as you look at it now and you look at what is the environment of what we’re in, in that environment that showed the decay effectiveness of two part, that means that, through two part, you have two parts that are taken and are determined in a way that eliminates a third process.  And I mean, that because two part is done by the interior and the concurrence of the governor, well, in this two part, what took place here is the governor concurred before the Interior had put this land into trust for gaming.  You cannot bypass the process; you cannot manipulate the process, as what was indicated that California was saying we support this gaming, in this tribe’s gaming, before it was even passed.  That’s trying to manipulate the system.  That’s what leveraging and not allowing, not allowing, this gaming of this land to be passed, not letting it go through the criteria and based on its own merits.  When you see that and when you see this Part II being manipulated—and this manipulation is caused by needs of money, not based on the criteria, Part II, but needs of money by the governors, by the states, by the local government, all of these decisions, starting from the first because of our economy—any people and tribes that follow the rules, that went by Prop. 1A, are pushed aside.
If you go by the rules, it seems like, that, oh, you know, if we cut rules here for other tribes, there’s going to be more monies for the state; there’s going to be more money for the locals.  You know, the compacts are made for tribes, for tribes to benefit, to be the primary beneficiaries.  There always seems—and I hear the unions; I hear the supervisors; I hear these people, what it’s going to do for them.  Well, what is it going to do for Picayune?  It’s going to hurt them.  What is it going to do for other tribes?  It’s not going to be beneficial because all of these monies are going out.  What happened to the Indians?  And if you allow the voters of California to be undermined in the 1A, proposition, then you’re just turning your backs on the state of California.

You must look at this in a way to have proper laws in place to make determinations out of criteria, not needs of monies by the state and local governments.  It seems that’s where the basis of these decisions are coming from, and we as Indian people are being hurt because we follow 1A.  Thank you.

MS. IRENE WALTZ:  Good afternoon.  My name is Irene Waltz, tribal council secretary of the Picayune Rancheria of the Chukchansi Indians.  As a tribal council member of the tribe that owns a casino in nearby Coarsegold, our tribe will be irrevocably harmed if this compact is approved.  But this project is much bigger than just one tribe.  This is why it is imperative that you understand the major cultural harm to societal impact of this project.
I have been active in the affairs of my tribe since well before we built our beautiful casino in the Sierra Mountains.  These are the same mountains where the North Fork tribe has land and where their tribe has existed for generations.  The North Fork tribe continues to state that they regularly make trips to the valley floor; and as a result, the land outside of Madera should be considered their ancestral territory.  Well, so too did the Chukchansi tribe and so did many other tribes who made their home in the Sierras.  I want you to think about what the governor’s concurrence did mention, anything about this project means the identity of other tribes in the area.  We too could have claimed that our land in the mountains was just not feasible to build a casino on it.  It is located in the hills of a remote location, just like the North Fork’s land.  The North Fork tribe was and is a mountain tribe and they will never—and they never established a presence in the valley, other than perhaps walking across it.

We too could have claimed our land was in trust for individual tribal members, so it would be only fair to give us more land in a better location but we did not.  We followed the spirit of the law and located our casino on our ancestral territory in the foothills.  To allow the North Fork tribe to build this casino in the valley is an effort to all tribes that can stake the legitimate claim to that land.  Imagine how you’d feel if the government had the power to tell you, that even though your family has lived on the same land for generations, it is actually somebody else’s because they lived—because they used to traverse the land occasionally.  And not only that, but you will be transplanting an entire mountain tribe into the valley and severing its ties with its ancestral territory just because the location in the valley is more profitable to a huge casino.  This why you should see such a broad coalition opposing this project.  It includes citizens from all walks of life, community leaders, tribes from all over California, and other businesses from across the state.

And who do you see in support?  North Fork tribal members who are paid to attend these hearings and by their out-of-state investors and unions who are concerned about the jobs and not only the impacts of this project.  Who you have a duty to be concerned about, other than this compact—Larry Echo Hawk’s letter to Governor Jerry Brown confirms this process is flawed.  Within this section of this letter, historical use in occupancy, only four Native American names are used to confirm this conclusion.  I am a direct lineal descendant of three of those individuals—Savage Lewis, Mary Lewis, and Mary Blackhawk.  They are my direct lineal descendants.  They are not Mono.
He references also the tribe’s predecessors were represented by signatories to the 1851 treaty signed at Camp Barber.  I am a direct lineal descendant to Culca (sp?) who signed the Camp Barber Treaty.  He is not Mono.  I am Casant (sp?), Chowchillan, Telenche (sp?), and Chukchansi Indian.  I represent four of the 16 tribes who are signatories to the 1851 treaty signed at Camp Barber, none of which are Mono.


The North Fork Monos are invading Yokut territory on the valley floor.  Emby (sp?) Lewis, Indian Subagent at the Fresno Farm, who is also named in the letter drafted by Larry Echo Hawk:  I am a lineal descendant of his as well.  I’m his great-great-great granddaughter.

In the letter, he is misquoted and I would like to state otherwise some of his information that was stated in the letter:  The Monos continue to occupy the portions of the agency higher up in the mountains, unmolested and create no harm, whether to the White settlers in the vicinity.

Also he stated, “the Chukchansis, the largest unbroken tribe within the bounds of the agency.

The last thought I want to leave you with is that in no matter what anyone tells you, the North Fork tribe is a mountain tribe with trust land in the mountains.  Once you open the door to allowing casinos on land because it is more lucrative, that door cannot be shut.  I would also like to point out the Yokuts traveled from San Francisco to Bakersfield.  I am a member of the Yokut tribe as well.  So by doing that, by authorizing this compact to through, you’re also allowing Yokut, Chukchansi, and the Chowchillan Indians to stake a claim with any other cities for approval to put a casino there.


I strongly urge you to reject this compact.  Thank you.


MS. DORA JONES:  Thank you for allowing me to speak here, Chairman.


My name is Dora Jones.  I’m a Chukchansi tribal member.  I am also a descendant of a Mono tribal member.  My mother, Rosie Mildred Jones McDonald/MacDonald ??, if she were alive today, she can tell you that her homeland was in the mountains.  The North Fork Monos trekked over from the eastern slopes of the Sierra Nevadas.  Even today, the Monos make that Mono trek up over the hill to the Owens Valley area.  Do they trek down to Madera, 48.6 miles from their original rancheria land?  Answer is no.  If they’re going to go down to Madera, they’re going to drive down there.  There is no such cultural trek.


In regard to the support they have, I like outside people giving tribal people support.  But guess what?  We have that support also with the unions.  Our casino was built by union labor; our casino is staffed by union labor.  All the trades that were here today speaking in support of this, if you vote no on this casino project in Madera, and when it comes up again, vote yes, when it’s voted on in North Fork, all of those same people will be back here then testifying in support of it.  So I again ask you not to vote yes on this compact because it’s allowing a tribe, the Mono tribe, from on top of the hill to come down and jump past the foothill Chukchansi, Yokut tribe that we are and go down to the valley floor that invades the Chowchillan property.


Thank you for your consideration.


MR. DAVID QUINTANA:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, David Quintana.  I’m here on behalf of the Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians, the Pala Band of Mission Indians, and Picayune, and right now I’d like to speak specifically on Picayune.

I want to correct something that has been said over and over today and in meetings that we have had, and that is, that Chukchansi is being mitigated for the creation of this casino in North Fork.  Let me very clear.  Chukchansi is not being mitigated, and let me go over the timeline very, very quickly because I know we have other people that need to speak and that we want to speak.
Mitigation did not come up until the last week of the compact negotiations, maybe the last week and a half of not the compact negotiations but the pre-concurrence decision before the governor concurred on this.  And about a week and a half, then mitigation discussions finally took place.  At that point, Picayune at their own expense went out and hired someone to do an economic analysis of what the impact would be to Chukchansi Gold Resort.  They came back—it will be a 40 percent drop in revenue at Chukchansi.


As I know many of you have been to Chukchansi Gold Resort, you understand where it’s located.  You understand, you have to drive past the new North Fork Casino to get to Chukchansi.  You have to drive 40 minutes.  So who is going to go there?  So it was a 40 percent hit in revenue, or it will be a 40 percent hit in revenue, if North Fork opens.  We presented that to the Governor’s Office.  The Governor’s Office came back and said, we’ll give you 3 percent.  However, we’re going to condition that 3 percent.  You’ll get that 3 percent if you promise not to lobby against this compact.  Well, so Chukchansi was given the option of either accepting 3 percent and dying or lobbying against the compact and hoping that the legislature will stop this madness and maybe then they could try to, you know, to continue to operate the Chukchansi Gold Resort.


Shortly after the concurrence, we received a letter from Mr. Appelsmith—and our attorneys are digging the letter out of the file now to give to everyone here—which said we essentially—I don’t have the letter in front of me, but essentially it said we’ve noted that you’ve been, you know, lobbying and opposing the compact and therefore the mitigation is void.  We will get the letter and we’ll give it to you.


So again, I need to be very, very clear because this has been repeated over and over, Chukchansi is getting zero, so Chukchansi essentially, when you ratify this compact or—I’m sorry—if you were going to ratify this compact, you’d be ratifying a slow death for the Chukchansi Gold Resort.  So my question is then this:  Given that the Governor’s Office is talking about compassion—and that’s what’s driving these issues in what’s good for Indian people—well, we have a thousand members of Picayune who are now going to see their major economic-development machine go out of business.  So now we’re going to have a thousand members of Picayune up in the mountains without a casino resort, so are they now going to be a unique circumstance which can come before you and open a casino in Merced?

So these are why we really need to think about this before we go.  I’d also like to note the delicious irony of labor lobbyists vigorously lecturing tribal leaders on sovereignty and how to exercise it, but I want to correct the labor lobbyists on one thing.  He said that North Fork went the only way it could go and that’s not true.  The way they could go is by building it on their existing acreage up in the town of North Fork.  That’s it.


MR. MACARRO:  Mr. Chairman, I guess I’m kind of going clean up on this panel.



I’m going to pick up where Mr. Quintana left off.  There are a number of things that we feel need to be refuted and addressed that came up during some of the proponents’ testimony and in no particular order.


Mr. Appelsmith mentioned that the Department of Interior, the DOI, got it wrong.  You know what DOI got wrong was approving North Fork’s and Enterprise’s compacts, to begin with.  They had not been approved for years, and it was a bit of missionary zeal, I think, on the part of the now-former Assistant Secretary Larry Echo Hawk and his deputy, Del Laverdure, who, by anomaly and no other explanation, put into the motion the actions of approval that we are now dealing with today.  And shortly thereafter or almost concurrently as those actions were being undertaken by Interior, they both departed.  They are no longer part of the Obama Administration and I think had their—you know, it’s a what if.  But, you know, had this issue lasted another six months on the federal level, they simply would have left and there would be nothing here to approve.  So it’s a bit of history and it’s unfortunate.  But, you know, people do read things wrong from time to time, and here’s an instance where, surprisingly, Interior got it wrong.  The folks that are there now would not have made those same decisions.


You know, there have been a number of questions, actually, without a satisfactory answer from, you know, the proponents about what was the intent of Prop. 1A, you know, because the Nevada Resorts Association, the other NRA, at the time fought vigorously—Cathy, you remember that, right?—vigorously fought the passage of Prop. 5 and their best message—and it was a good message—it was very hard to combat this once it got embedded in the minds of television viewers throughout the state—was that casinos would be popping up in their neighborhoods and urban areas and they had a very effective television ad that demonstrated this through a cartoon, and that visual was powerful; and everywhere we went, we had to spend a good deal of time on the campaign countering that and explaining, look, the intent is on our Indian lands as they existed when IGRA was passed in October—I think it was October 17, 1988—and those the mainstream casino gaming projects that were contemplated.  That was the intent of Prop. 5 and Prop. 1A.

So let’s talk about Prop. 1A because that was a successor and that is what passed and effectively changed the constitution.  But this other language, this Section 20, two-part determination process, was a provision that was put in there so that tribes that met or that were part of a circumstance that was rare and unique would not be excluded from the possibility of having a casino.  And, you know, there had been some discussion I won’t retread on that.  There’s been some discussion about landless tribes, and they are certainly part of that intent of what section—the Part II process and the Section 20 was supposed to deal with.

At the time—and, you know, I suppose maybe we’re looking back on this—I’m certainly looking back on this and wondering if this was more of just an anachronism—that the governors of many states that had tribes in them were a backstop against a proliferation of gaming off of Indian lands and into other areas and, you know, Governor Davis was the governor that presided over Indian gaming in California and he was very specific, and certainly his intent was to be rather restrictive.  You know, while we were very thankful at the time that Governor Davis did what Governor Pete Wilson refused to do, we’ve been miffed for years that Governor Davis put a lid on the number of slot machines per facility and created this artificial barrier to meeting market demands and that has been an ongoing theme.

Well, I’m not sure what happened or what the thinking or what the process was but, you know, with Governor Schwarzenegger and now Governor Brown, it’s a whole new take on this, you know.  Indian gaming has become a source of revenue for state coffers perhaps or governors elsewhere as well and other states are looking at Indian gaming to help provide bridge funding, you now, having gone through this recession, to try to bridge the gap in funding. And what was supposed—what Congress intended to have as a law that benefitted tribes and tribal governments is now out there, I think, for the benefit of everybody else and maybe the tribe.  And you, you know, I sincerely hope actually that somebody spoke to that, that the North Fork tribe does in fact get the lion’s share of what their compact purports to provide because it sure seems like a lot of other people are going to get paid first before they do.


I also need to mention that, you know, we’re not talking—sometimes vocabulary drives debate.  We’re not talking about floodgates.  I mentioned a slippery slope.  Maybe somebody else talked about a camel’s nose under the tent.  We’re talking about the erosion of a policy that has its basis in the electorate of this state—not once, but twice.  That’s what we were talking about, an erosion.  We’re talking about the slippery slope of that policy.  It doesn’t take a floodgate, however you want to define a floodgate.  The hyperbolic terms are not useful for this debate.  It only takes maybe four-sixths of these to really change the landscape of gaming in California irrevocably, and that’s the concern here.  Now the other thing is, you don’t need to have an off‑reservation gaming proposal on the table to have it be of concern.  You know, there’s, by example, there is tribe called Cold Springs just north of Fresno, northeast of Fresno is the description.  Once the North Fork—if you do happen to approve the North Fork Compact—and we urge you not to, but if you do—Cold Springs is going to look at this and say, hey, we need that solution as well.  They’re in a valley—it’s remote; it’s secluded.  If you get them out of the Cold Springs land base and you come onto a bluff, you overlook Fresno.  They’re going to want that.  Who doesn’t?  Who doesn’t want the access to that?

So that’s the kind of thing we’re talking about.  And as I said in my earlier remarks, Indian country in California, by definition, is land nobody wanted.  It was considered worthless.  I had not water on it; it was remote.  So almost as a starting point, at any given point in our histories, all of us were remotely situated from demographics, from populations with money that they would spend on casinos.


Thirty years ago, if you told me that the former cow town of Temecula, which was the home of the Vail Ranch, all 80,000 acres of it, would be a bustling suburban place between San Diego and Los Angeles, I wouldn’t have believed it.  It’s amazing, and you see how development is spreading into the breadbasket of California over the last 20 years, closer and closer to Indian country.  So it does become appealing to try to solve these problems, but what it does is it leads tribes to leapfrog and want to jump over other tribes and that is not sovereignty.  That is, I think, economic opportunism of the worst sort.

One of the things that also needs to be corrected—and I’d like to make an object point here in pointing this out—we’ve got North Fork Enterprise in Barstow.  Now, of course, we’re only talking about North Fork in front of the committee today but it’s impossible not to address the others because this is the concern.  There’s also Graton and Fort Mojave and I mentioned Cold Springs already.  I don’t think, when Fort Mojave’s compact was coming through, that you saw a massive opposition from tribes.  I also think that was the case when Graton’s compact was in front of you.  You probably didn’t see any opposition.

Now probably Graton’s a good example to illustrate one thing.  I have my own personal opinions about Station Casinos.   Station Casinos is a backer of Graton.  The reason you didn’t see tribes in opposition to Graton’s compact approval is because they’re within their own territory—clear, plain, and simple—Fort Mojave similarly, three miles from their existing reservation, across the river from their current tribal lands and in a vast expansive desert.  Forty-eight miles in Central California and 48 miles in Southern California, from where we are, is remarkable.  I mean, where we are, you start to cross various counties, you know, with 48 miles.

So the point I’m trying to make here is that there’s a land‑base integrity issue, and one of the things you ought to be looking for is that it is absolutely rare, it is absolutely significant, that tribes are opposing this and they’re opposing this for a reason.  You need to listen to tribal opposition because it wasn’t there in Graton and it wasn’t there in Fort Mojave and it wasn’t there for a reason.  Tribes generally were okay with that for a reason so don’t underestimate that. 


I think I’d like to close…

MR. REID:  Can I say something?


MR. MACARRO:  Can I just finish and then I’m going to stop.


MR. REID:  Sure…


MR. MACARRO:  I first got into tribal office in 1992.  I became tribal chairman in 1995.  I’ve been continuously Pechanga’s tribal chairman since 1995.  I’m in my 18th year.  A few of you may have been in office in one way or another for that long.  Not many of you have been in state legislative office 18 years.  When I became tribal chairman, term limits were still part of the landscape here and things have really changed since then.  Well, we, in the time I’ve been tribal chairman, we have seen, at least once a year, some of the silliest and even cockamamie schemes and proposals that have been brought in front of my tribe for trying to situate a casino off reservation.  Yeah, you know, who wouldn’t like to have a casino in urban Los Angeles?  We had somebody propose one, for example, with Santa Anita, using that property and our compact.  They came to us and explained our compact to them and showed—well, they tried to show—how our compact could work at Santa Anita.  Of course, we didn’t bite and it was fraught with all sorts of legal problems, and we don’t need to have a casino in Santa Anita and that was not the intent of Prop. 1A.

But that’s how easy it is; that’s how common it is.  Developers go out there and they do this and then they shop around until they find somebody. They find a tribe willing to go along with the program and the promises are big, and it is tremendously destabilizing to the scheme that’s been in place and those of us that have chosen to play by the rules.  Now if the rules change, you approve this compact, you are changing the rules; and the next one that comes after that will change the rules even more.  That is the slippery slope.  The appeal will then be, turnabout is fair play.  Why shouldn’t we pursue that casino in Los Angeles or San Diego?  You know, 18 tribes in San Diego County, most of them have casinos.  All of them would love to have a casino in San Diego.


So do the right thing.  There is a carefully constructed balance of public policy in place.  Be faithful to that.  We’ve been trying to be faithful to that and I think we can do that together.  Thank you very much.


MR. REID:  Now one thing I’d like to say is that, you know, the question comes up about 1A in saying that to be on tribal lands.  Well, that’s exactly what it means.  You know, these people that look at this and went through this, and the folks of California, they wanted to make sure that expansion of gaming was not going to be in urban areas or cities so they said tribal lands.  Well, this seems to be something that is not adhered to because they find excuses to go around this and that’s by the Part II.  And I think because of North Fork going to Part II, they didn’t have to go to approving of aboriginal lands and that’s one of the things that was questioned in this Part II and that it not being as strong as it should be to make sure that it lived up to its effectiveness.  And I think U.S. Senator, I think, Feinstein, her answer to this was to—what would you say—to fortify it, to bring it where it would do the job it should be doing, is to add the factor of aboriginal lands.  This was needed very much because of the fact that the economy and the need for money by states and local governments, criteria was not being followed in the Part II, but the decisions were being made on the needs of money for local governments and states.  And I just can’t understand why we sit here and allow North Fork to come in and say, well, I’m going to go downtown here because I bypassed it going on a picnic someplace and I don’t believe that.  That’s Chukchansi land and Chowchillan land, and we know our lands and they know their lands and they’re from the mountains, actually from the east coast, side of the mountains, the Sierra Mountains.  That’s where they originally came from.  Chukchansi’s allowed them to stay up in the higher elevations because they were pretty good fighters so let them be, but they never allowed them to come down below into the valleys.  They’ve always, always kept up in those high ranges.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  ________.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Oh, okay.  Well, thank you very much.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Thank you.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I plan to stay here in case there are any questions, but there are some folks coming up from the Citizens group and I just wanted to correct one point that didn’t, just a legal point, since I’m here as the lawyer, that might be useful for the committee, and that is, two points.


One is, the legislature’s role in all this, which it was stated earlier that you don’t have a role by the proponents.  You do have a role.  Whether or not you agree with the policy of concurrence, whether or not you think that the compact is appropriate for the state of California is the role that the Constitution gave you.  The governor cannot act unilaterally.  He’s an executive officer.  And in our system of government, he carries out the laws of policies established by the legislature so I would encourage you to—and that is the basis, by the way of four of the eight lawsuits.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’ll let you go back in a second, but the question was specific that, did the governor have the authority to do it?  Clearly, the legislature has the authority to reject the compact so I disagree with your legal opinion.  We’ll go back to the panel.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. DAVID ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, and some of you, I know personally for many years—Frank, good to see you, Cathleen, Anthony, and Tom’s not here right now but I know all of you.  I have friends on both sides of this room.  My name is David Rogers.  I am a Madera County supervisor in District 2.  The proposed site of the casino is in my district.  I live, work, and go to church in District 2.  My house is less than nine miles from the proposed casino site.  My church is less than two miles from the proposed casino site.


As I said, I have friends on both sides of this issue.  And just as my predecessor, I’m opposed to the location of the proposed casino for the following reasons—and you have heard from many who do not live in District 2 where the proposed casino site is, but the voters in my district have not been considered at any level of this process.  Neither their letters nor their testimony were considered at the BIA federal level.  During the Assembly hearing, their voices were not heard because they were silenced by the chairman.  The voters of District 2 in Madera County have been disenfranchised from the process and would appreciate a referendum vote on this issue, just as proposed by Senator Dianne Feinstein.

Let me clarify the record in a couple of misstatements, one by Mr. Hall today.  The mayor of Madera, as well as two city councilmembers, have stated publicly that there is no declaration of support for this casino project, none.  I’d also like to clarify something Mr. Appelsmith said—and he’s a fine man—did come to visit him.  We sat down with him; we talked with him.  But none of the meetings that were held were publicized nor were they public, so he did not hear from the general public.  He heard from a few of us.

There are two independent polls conducted in my district—one conducted by the governor’s choice of pollsters, J Moore.  They both show that 70 percent of the constituents in District 2 oppose the site location of the casino.  The proximity of the proposed casino site to the cities of Madera and Chowchilla leaves businesses with concerns regarding parity and taxation, regulation, and business operations.  This unfair advantage of not paying taxes, coupled with the casino’s ability to supplement food and hotel service operations with gaming profits will result in significant losses of jobs and businesses in the food and hotel industries.  As an example, who will go to the vineyard for $25 prime rib when you can go to the casino in the same town for prime rib at $10.95?  And you know it’s going to happen.  They can support their operations with gaming profits.  The same thing will happen at the hotel industry.

I would make this committee aware respectfully that expansion into retail clothing and gas stations has been the history of these casino operations.  I recently visited the community where my father lives.  As I pass through the nearby Indian reservation on the way to his home, the large clothing outlets reminded me that no sales tax is charged there and that all of the similar shopping in the area could not compete and many have already gone out of business.  At the gas station on the reservation, the price for gasoline is 50 cents less than the stations off reservation.  They don’t have to charge federal or state gas tax as of this year.  I don’t have to remind this committee that the road funds come from gas tax.

Needless to say, their competitors across the road, off reservation, were not doing near as much business.  Is Joe Citizen going to buy gas for 50 cents more?  I tell you, he won’t.  And I want to remind you again, as this city is already aware, we’re suffering from a deficit where roads are concerned.  These road funds come from gas tax.  Dilapidated roads are just one of the many issues not addressed in the passage of this legislation.  By passing this bill, you are inviting these things to happen to Madera, Chowchilla, Fresno, and Merced.  And in establishing this huge precedent, it will come to a city near each of you.

I ask you to oppose AB 277 and the questionable process which brought it here, and I thank you for your time.

MR. SEAN SHERLOCK:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Senators.  Thank you for this time.
My name is Sean Sherlock and I represent citizens from the city and county of Madera who are opposed to this Madera casino, and I’d like to address two points with you very briefly today.  The first will be that the governor’s concurrence, when he concurred in the two-part determination, he did in fact exceed his authority under the California Constitution; the second will be that this compact itself, should it be ratified by the legislature, will also violate the California Constitution and I’ll address both points very briefly.

First, on the concurrence, the federal courts that have evaluated, interrupted the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act have uniformly held, that when a governor concurs in the Secretary’s two-part determination, the governor is making policy choices.  And under California law, the Supreme Court tells us that policy choices are the province of the legislature, not of the governor.  And when the governor concurs in a two-part determination, he is engaging in a legislative act, making policy decisions that will bind the state on into the future.  And again, the Supreme Court opinions tell us that the governor cannot engage in legislative acts unless he has clear, express authority under either the terms of the Constitution itself or from the legislature, neither of which were present here.

The governor of this state does not have inherent, broad policy-making discretion.  In fact, he made that argument and lost that argument before the California Supreme Court just three years ago.  And in all of the authorities that we’ve been able to find—California Supreme Court opinions, Attorney General opinions, Legislative Counsel opinions—in which the governor’s authority has been called into question, all of them have found that the governor did not have the authority, albeit in different circumstances, to do the things he did and so this not just some novel argument that I’m raising here this afternoon.

Then finally with respect to the compact itself, as you know, the California Constitution prohibits the type of casino gaming similar to Nevada and New Jersey, of the type conducted there, and the California Supreme Court again tells us that means banked casino gaming.  There is the exception carved out in Prop. 180 or gaming on tribal lands.  But when you look, as Senator Lieu apparently has done, and maybe others of you have—but if you haven’t, I would urge you to look at the Voter Information Pamphlet for Proposition 1A, and you will see that this issue came up specifically in the arguments about—from the opponents and from the supporters of the proposition and the opponents were concerned about this very issue, the off‑reservation casino‑shopping phenomenon occurring, and the supporters in support of Prop. A [sic] said that that’s not going to happen.  They said that Proposition 1A “would strictly limit Indian gaming to tribal land; the claim that casinos could be built anywhere is totally false,” and then they went on, as Senator Lieu mentioned, to explain that a majority of Indian tribes are in remote locations, on remote reservations.  Their markets will support only a few, a limited number of machines.  So clearly, the proponents of Proposition 1A told the electorate—they told your constituents—that this would not happen, this off-reservation casino-shopping phenomenon, would not happen.
So Mr. Chairman, Senators, I’m here to urge you, please, do not let it happen. Thank you.

MR. RANDALL BRANNON:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Senate Committee, my name is Randall Brannon.  I’ve resided in District 2.  That is the site of the proposed casino for 30 years where I’ve pastored Grace Community Church and raised my family.  I speak on behalf of Madera Ministerial Association and the Nisei Farm League of 1,000 farmers, packers, processors throughout the state of California.

The voting electorate of Madera has no say in this project and this is mainly due to Madera County government opposition to such action, and I suggest that there is a fear of the results of a countywide survey.  The casino was to be built in a hazardous location due to the Madera Airport’s takeoff and landing patterns and air zoning regulations to which Chris Green will speak.  The casino will adversely affect our local business enterprises and our farming industry.  The Mono tribe has questionable historical roots at best on this property, according to anthropological studies, including the work by the United States Army Corps of Engineers and anthropologists by the United States Parks and Recreation.

This is not a rural project but one that takes advantage of an urban population and a highly trafficked highway close to the intersecting of Highway 152.  We do not want the Trojan Horse to be released in our community.  Our social agencies, including churches, will in effect be taxed as they’ll be expected to address enormous issues so listed by the June 18, 1999, National Gambling Impact Study Commission Final Report, the Mayo Clinic Report, and the JAMA, Journal American Association Report; and you can look those up.  They’re very detrimental to a community. 
As a ministerial association, we’re in the business of helping people in every dimension of life, but we stand against irresponsible facilitation of such problems and we stand for the people of our city who should not be subjected to these atrocities.  We plead with each one of you to cast a no vote on AB 277.  It has been said, what is morally and socially wrong can never be politically right.  With the regard to the Nisei Farmers League opposition, this is prime agricultural land of the heartland of California.  It will be used when this is not—this should not be the issue if the casino was located on their own tribal land.  Secondly, a large amount of resources, including water, will be extracted from the land that is already experiencing drastic reductions in the water table.  Neighboring property owners will have to compete for these resources.  Third, daily agricultural practices adjacent to local farmers—pardon?...

SENATOR WRIGHT:  There’s two minutes.

MR. BRANNAN:  …with regulations and other issues will arise because of the proximity of this.


We suggest that you vote no on this.


MS. CHERYL SCHMIT:  Chairman Wright, Vice-Chairman Nielsen, my name is Cheryl Schmit.  I’m director of Stand Up for California!  Our organization is opposed to AB 277 because it does not address an off‑reservation gaming policy.

Years ago, when the first compact came before this legislature in 1998, the legislature challenged the governor’s authority to negotiate those compacts and that’s really the beginning of the development of Proposition 1A.  In that challenge, legislators asked for Leg Counsel opinions to describe the limits of the governor’s authority and the responsibility of the state legislature.  I have three of those Leg Counsel opinions and it’s very clear it is the legislature’s duty to create a policy on gambling expansion.

This policy is so important now because allowing the governor to grant concurrence and then expect you to ratify a tribal state compact, what’s the power of a decision of gambling expansion statewide into the hands of one man, one man who is today Governor Jerry Brown, what governor in the future?  It sets a terrible precedent and I ask you to pause.  There is currently litigation going on with this, and I hope you can wait until at least there is some sort of a court ruling on this.  There’s no rush to ratify this.  The compacts are good until 2014, so please, hold off on them or vote no.  Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Let me say, sir, where we are now is, we’re out of time in the hour so I’m going to ask that people who are opposed, as they come up now and identify themselves for the record, but we don’t have any more testimony time.  We’ve exhausted the time that we allotted.  So people can now come and identify themselves for the record as being opposed.

MS. SCHMIT:  Chairman Wright, these men also have some documents.  Can they give them to the bailiff…

MR. CHRISTOPHER GREEN:  Actually they’ve been given to the bailiff already.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  The sergeant.

MR. GREEN:  Yeah, this is the second time this has happened.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Sir, if you would identify yourself, and as others would come forward and do the same thing, and then we’ll have questions of the panel.
MR. GREEN:  My name is Christopher Green.  I am the current vice‑president of the Madera County Industrial Association, and we are opposed because of the safety hazard which was not addressed in the EIF related to the airport and the land use.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

MR. ROB ROSS:  Mr. Chairman and Members, I’m Rob Ross.  I’m executive director of the 70-member statewide California Gaming Association card clubs in opposition.

MR. SCOTT GOVERNOR (sp?):  Mr. Chair and Members, Scott Governor here on behalf of the Morongo Band of Mission Indians in opposition.
MR. JAMES BUTLER:  Mr. Chair, Reverend Butler from the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion, in opposition.

MS. SUSAN McCABE:  Mr. Chair, Susan McCabe on behalf of Brigade Capital Management there with the investment fund that just restructured the $300 million of debt for the Chukchansi Casino, and we believe that they will default on those bonds and go bankrupt.  Thank you.

MR. TRENT SMITH:  Trent Smith representing Artichoke Joe’s Card Room, in opposition.

MR. BART TOPPING:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Bart Topping.  I’m vice-chair of the Chowchilla Tribal Organization.  More importantly, I’m here—I’m a fourth-generation resident of O’Neals, California, in Madera County which is Mr. Bigelow’s hometown, and I may be the one that’s responsible for him to wearing a cowboy hat all the time.  I’m not sure about that; but anyhow, I’m opposed to this compact.  Thank you.

MR. DENNIS MORINSIC (sp?):  My name is Dennis Morinsic.  I’m a resident of Madera.  I oppose this, and the casino is going to be built right in the flight pattern of the Municipal Airport and it’s in violation of certain California state laws regarding air safety and that has not been taken into consideration, so it’s really going to shut down our airport.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Thank you.

Questions from the panel?  Senator Galgiani?

SENATOR GALGIANI:  It was mentioned earlier that this is not the first, before us, before the legislature, that’s a two-part determination, that this has been addressed by the legislature in the past.  Perhaps someone can refer to that history for us?

MS. CHRISTIAN:  Senator, I can try and do that.  Cathy Christian again with United Auburn.  The only other two-part determination that’s occurred in California, to my knowledge, is the Fort Mojave tribe that was mentioned earlier in the testimony.  That was a very unique circumstance which is really what this two-part determination process is supposed to deal with.  The land in trust for gaming happened to be in the city of Needles; and to construct a casino there would have been very difficult for the city to accommodate along with the other development plans they had, so they asked the tribe if they’d be willing to use another piece of trust property that was only three miles away. And the tribe agreed; the city agreed; and together, with no opposition, this was presented to the governor and that ended up being the location, that new land, but it was already in trust, a mere three miles away, was taken into trust and used for their casino so it was a win-win for both the tribe and the city.
SENATOR GALGIANI:  Okay.  Thank you.

And one more question.  I remember as a staff person that this similar came up; there were two or three different discussions.  When Barbara Matthews, my predecessor, was in the Assembly, and there was not agreement.  I can’t recall exactly why but I know that it had to do with—it was called reservation shopping at the time, and so there were compacts that didn’t move forward and perhaps someone can speak to the history on that too that was decided basically by our predecessors.

MR. QUINTANA:  Sure.  I can answer that, or maybe I should have Scott Governor who’s leaving the room answer it (laughter) since he was the lobbyist.  Just kidding.

Chairman, that was—the senator is referring to Los Coyotes and Big Lagoon; and in that instance, the governor at that time, Governor Schwarzenegger, entered into a compact with them.  While they were going through the two-part process, it hadn’t even been finished yet—it was still in process—that compact was brought before the legislature and the G.O. Committee, there was no support for the bill, and it was not taken up at that time due to lack of support.  Additionally, there is a restored-lands issue, which is different, though, and that was the Lytton case where Lytton’s compact was brought before again by Governor Schwarzenegger and that compact did not have the support in G.O. Committee so it was not taken up, but that was a restored-lands issue.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Senator Nielsen.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  Well, I don’t see Mr. Archuleta out there right now, but I was going to have him wave if I’m wrong on this, but Mooretown, as I understood it, played by the rules.  They sited their casino at a place that was much less convenient, much less accessible.  Had the rules been different at the time, maybe they would have gotten something a little closer to Highway 99 or 70 or somewhere else.

I’d like to get back to have someone comment on a question I raised earlier that is a concern to me about precedent and this two-part determination and the state role particularly therein.  We can’t control what the Interior Secretary may want to do.  I think that’s also a dangerous slippery slope that he is pursing—or she or whoever it may be at the time—but that doesn’t—we can’t do anything about that.  We can do something about California.  I am concerned about that.  And you can’t poo-poo it that, well, there’s not much in line now.

What is lapping at the bridge of the levee—and I’m familiar and those are the terms I put it—is one thing—money.  What’s different now, government sees a lot of money and that is driving more policy related to casinos, I argue, than almost anything else—more money.  Certainly I argue that’s the case in the state of California, and I’m not pointing any fingers.  I’m just speaking general.  That’s lapping.  And once the water breeches, if it is not tended to, then the floodgates ensue.  The applications will ensue.  The shopping will become full bore and I argue then that everybody hurts.
Could someone here expand on that fear of mine?  Is it ill founded?

MR. QUINTANA:  Well, if I can comment on it and I’ll leave it to the legal experts to answer in a more legal fashion.  I mean, for the proponents of this to say, well, you know, nothing has happened yet, well, that’s like saying no one uses iPhones before iPhones have been put out for sale.  So the fact that no one is doing it right now is because have held it off.  So once we do this, I guarantee you, I guarantee you, people who are opposing it now will be back in line trying to get a compact so they can move into a more favorable location.  So again, the fact that they’re saying, well, you know, we don’t have to worry about it because, you know, it’s been so rare, is again like saying something hasn’t happened because the first one hasn’t happened.  Once that first one happens, it’s downhill.

I mean, Mr. Appelsmith is still here, so perhaps it’s better to address to him but we have North Fork before you right now, which I believe you will reject.  We have Enterprise right behind it, which is waiting for North Fork, you know, to get approved.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER HALL:  Mr. Chair, I’ll ask that the comments regarding other compacts be left out of discussion as we’re dealing with the North Fork hearing.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  We’ll get back to that, but people are using it as a reference and Mr. Appelsmith is down here so we will allow to him to respond as well.

MR. QUINTANA:  And so behind that, we know that, as Mr. Appelsmith said, a man who I, you know, have great respect for, but as he said earlier, Los Coyotes and Calexico are ripe for decision, so what happens when those are actually decided upon and approved?  I mean, do we have—is Mr. Appelsmith saying that they’re not going to also concur on those?  But right there, Senator, you have three more in line.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  Chairman Macarro mentioned casinos sprouting up like weeds.  That is a fear.  Could someone else expand a little bit on your view of the governor’s authority in this two-part situation and/or the legislature’s part?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I can give that a try, Senator.

I think we have addressed it to a certain degree.  There are eight different lawsuits involving the two approvals that the governor made, including North Fork and Enterprise.  In many of them, both in federal and state court, there is an issue about whether or not the governor can act unilaterally in California by concurring, that federal law says that the Secretary can approve and the governor must concur.  But, of course, federal law doesn’t tell us anything about the governor’s authority.  State by state, the governor’s authority differs, depending on the Constitution, so the contention in these lawsuits is that the governor did not have authority to act unilaterally to concur.  And whether or not that is correct or whether or not the legislature can correct that by rejecting the compact, which I believe is the ___ view, in the end would be a policy decision by the legislature to not allow the governor to act unilaterally so that’s really the question; it’s a legal question but it’s also a question before you; because if you reject the compact, there is only one other way that the tribe can proceed, and that is, by suing the state because it acted in bad faith by refusing to reject the compact.  But in IGRA itself, federal courts allow the state to raise the public interest, public safety, criminality, financial integrity, and adverse economic impacts on existing gaming activities as a defense to any bad-faith suit, so your policy choice about those things really does matter.

SENATOR NIELSEN:  The vagaries ____ is also disturbing as we proceed, I think, in presidential terms, that we don’t get this clarified, we’re going to be handling everything through extensive litigation.  Maybe this is a critical moment to step up to the plate, California.


Any other comments?  And then I have no other, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SHERLOCK:  Mr. Chairman, I had to clarify Senator Nielsen’s question, which is, this issue did come up in Oregon in a case a Federal Court, 9th Circuit decision out of Oregon.  And the court, the 9th Circuit, has held that even though the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act requires the governor to concur in this two-part determination, the court said, whether the governor has authority to concur or not, that is not bestowed by the federal law.  That is a question of each state’s law.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Why don’t we do this, since Mr. Appelsmith is still here, and we spoke to this earlier but why don’t we re-hash, so to speak, the issue of concurrence?

MR. APPELSMITH:  Okay.  Well, as they represent, they’re suing us on every basis they can possibly think of. They’ve thus far lost every single time and will continue to lose, in our opinion, but the Leg Counsel has issued an oral opinion today and it cites the governor having authority to enter into the concurrence; and for authority, Leg Counsel cites Article IV, Section 19(f), and Government Code Section 12012, okay?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Senator Lieu.
SENATOR LIEU:  Thank you, I have a few questions.

The first is for the county supervisor.  Can you tell me a little bit more about the two polls you referenced but also, if there wasn’t support for this locally, why would the city and the county enter MOUs with the tribes?
MR. ROGERS:  Would you restate that, please?

SENATOR LIEU:  Sure.  I’m curious, if there wasn’t support locally, why would the city and county enter into MOUs with their tribe?  And second, you did reference two polls of the citizens.  I’m curious what those showed.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, first of all, District 2…

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Hit your—okay.

MR. ROGERS:  …the site of the location of the casino that I represent, there have been a number of polls taken, more than just the two I cited, but I cited them because they were independent polls.  The one poll was done by the governor’s own preferred pollster, J Moore, I believe it is, and it was conclusive, representing 70 percent opposed to the casino location, opposed to off‑reservation gaming, period.  And my predecessor also conducted polls, in addition to these two polls that we had, and reached the same conclusion—67 percent of his poll, I polled myself with town halls and various groups and places that I went—I reached the same conclusion, anywhere from 65 to72 percent in my polls, so not only do we have the two independent polls, but the polls that we’ve conducted as supervisors in our own district, having a pulse of our own electorate.

And then your second question was the MOU?

SENATOR LIEU:  Right. Why would the county and city enter into an MOU concerning the tribes?

MR. ROGERS:  I believe, even though the city has not taken a formal stand on the casino itself—they are not in support of the casino formally—they entered into the MOU to, basically money, get a piece of the pie.  I believe that that’s exactly why my colleagues went forward with it.  I’m unwilling to do that when my constituents are opposed to the project.   I believe it’s going to be detrimental in more ways than to our businesses.  I believe the jobs are a zero‑sum gain and we’re going to see jobs lost as a result of the competition that’s unfair, as I’ve stated, in the imbalance between taxation and business operations.
I can’t speak for my colleagues on why they did it.  I can only say that I know that money is the motivation.  The county is strapped for funds, as every county is in this state.  We have cut our workforce by 30-plus percent.  We’re down from 1,400 employees to just a little over 1,000.  We’ve streamlined every operation we know how to streamline in order to conserve revenue, and so the only area I can go to and point a finger and say, this is what caused it to happen would be, they needed the money and follow the money.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Senator Lieu.

SENATOR LIEU:  I think I got enough.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Excuse me.  He answered…

SENATOR LIEU:  Let me ask my second question.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

SENATOR LIEU:  So, unfortunately, I don’t have a lot of knowledge of Indian history because a lot of our education has been whitewashed and we have not talked about the great infliction of damage to Native Americans by our early settlers, so I don’t really understand what it looked like before the settlers came to California.

Were Native Americans all over California?  For example, could a tribe sort of say, you know, we were in Los Angeles or in the area now known as Redondo Beach or whatever?  Or were those places not populated with Native Americans and it just happens that they’re in remote areas?  I’m just curious.

MR. ROGERS:  I’m no tribal expert but I can…

SENATOR LIEU:  I’m not…

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I can tell you this, that tribes moved in and out of areas.  They have traditionally.  There were the Yosemite Ahwahnee and Mowonos and they moved in and out of the Yosemite Valley, and there were some that migrated here and there  But traditionally, they had traditional lands and they fought each other to retain those lands, and I know about the Chowchilla Indians because that’s where I live.  I live in the city of Chowchilla and I know that that land is traditionally Yokut land, and the gentleman that spoke to you—Jerry Brown, I believe—is one of the descendants of the Yokuts, and he has stated to me he has documentation.  I’ve also seen the Corps of Engineers’ record of the location of the tribes by their traditional record, the historical record, and it shows the…

SENATOR LIEU:  I guess I’m interested in knowing if their tribe can lay claim to different places in California that currently are urbanized.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Let me do this—I’m going to guess that the tribal lady probably knows more than both the white people.  (Laughter)

MR. QUINTANA:  Thank you, Chairman.  I don’t propose to know more than anybody sitting here, but the valley floor is Yokut territory, okay?

SENATOR LIEU:  I want to know about other places in California.  I got this place.  I just want to know about other tribes and other places.
MR. QUINTANA:  Sure.  I can answer that every briefly.  Even though I am Latino, I can answer this question.  (Laughter)

Los Angeles is nothing but a bunch of paved-over Gabrielino villages. There is no doubt that Los Angeles was built on the relics of Garbrielino villages.  They were there for thousands of years.  As you know, the Gabrielino‑Tongva are now shopping a potential site for a casino in Downtown Los Angeles.  I forget exactly where it is but they’ve been shopping this for a couple of years now.  Those are ties that cannot—you don’t need an ethno‑historian to prove the Gabrielinos were in Los Angeles.   You don’t need an etho-historian to show that the Kumeyaay went from the mountains to the coast, from the mountains to the coast, every year, seasonal, had villages on the coast, had villages in the mountains.  Right now, the Kumeyaay casinos are in the mountains because that’s where the white people eventually put them.

But if this goes through—and that’s what we’re saying—you don’t need an ethno-historian to prove that they came from the same places where National City is, where La Jolla is, right where Oceanside is.  There’s no doubt—there is no doubting that.  So, yes, to answer your question.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

Any further questions from the Committee?

Well, let me thank everyone for—okay—thank you very much.  Were there any other persons who wanted to identify their opposition?

Okay, seeing none, then we’re going to be adjourned.  Thank you.
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